THE USE OF SUPPLEMENTAL FEED IN PASTURE-BASED STOCKER CATTLE SYSTEMS FOR INCREASED NUTRIENT CYCLING

by

Macy Lanae Rockwell

A thesis submitted to the Graduate Faculty of Auburn University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of Animal Sciences, Master of Science

> Auburn, Alabama December 14, 2024

Keywords: sustainability, byproducts, fertilizer, nutrient cycling

Copyright 2024 by Macy Lanae Rockwell

Approved by

William Brandon Smith, Chair, Assistant Professor of Ruminant Nutrition Sandra Leanne Dillard, Associate Professor of Forage Systems and Extension Specialist Mary Kimberly Mullenix, Professor and Head of Animal Sciences Joshua Gilchrist Maples, Associate Professor of Agricultural Economics and Extension Specialist, (Mississippi State University)

ABSTRACT

In Alabama, pasture-based beef cattle operations are prevalent, but all-time high fertilizer costs present challenges to production. The objective of this research was to evaluate nutrient cycling through supplemental feeding or addition of legumes. Stocker steers (n = 60) were used in a put-and-take grazing and supplementation study, arranged as a generalized complete block design across two locations. Treatments included 0.5 or 1.0% BW supplemental feed (SUP0.5 or SUP1.0, respectively), interseeded red clover (CLOV), or a negative control (tall fescue pasture only; CON). There was an effect of treatment ($P \le 0.01$) for ADG and gain per hectare, but not for forage mass (P = 0.84) or soil pH, OM, N, P, K, or microminerals ($P \ge 0.22$). Results are interpreted to mean that the one-year scale of stocker supplementation may not offset chemical fertilizer inputs, though partial budgets indicated increased revenue.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to acknowledge the fact that without God in my life this thesis would not have been possible. Three bible verses helped me through my thesis they are as follows: Philippians 4:13 "I can do all things through him who strengthens me", James 1:2-4 "Consider it pure joy, my brothers and sisters, whenever you face trials of many kinds, because you know that the testing of your faith produces perseverance. Let perseverance finish its work so you may be mature and complete, not lacking anything." and Isaiah 40:31 "But those who hope in the Lord will renew their strength; they will soar on wings like eagles; they will run and not grow weary; they will walk and not be faint".

I would like to give a special thank you to my committee members, Dr. Smith, Dr. Maples, Dr. Dillard, and Dr. Mullenix, for all their mentoring during her time at Auburn University. "You have given me more knowledge about nutrition, forage, and economics than I know what to do with. All four of you have played an important role in my future endeavors to be well rounded in the bovine industry." -Macy L. Rockwell

"A HUGE thank you to the beef and forage team (Abbigail Hines, Abby Boggier, Ashlyn Hurst, Bekah Crews, Cecelia Sagastume, Cole Lincoln, Cynthia Siziba, Diva Rigney, Lauren St. Andrew, Peyton Zessin, Rushing Fuller) at Auburn University. Without you, this project would've been much more difficult (nearly impossible) to accomplish all the samplings in one day at each location. Mason Henson, thank you for being a mentor along the way and helping me with in-field methodology. You helped me adjust and put my foot down for the good of our project."-Mace Dr. Aghata Elins-Silva, Dr. Arturo Macias-Franco, Dr. Jose Pereira-Neto: "Thank you greatly for being by biggest role models and mentors in the research realm. You have shown me the true meaning of providing the research world and the general public with the true meaning behind why researchers are important. I will forever be grateful for your role as a researcher and friend." -Macy

"To the friends and family back home. I thank the man upstairs every day for how close we all are. You have shown, guided, and allowed me to become an independent woman with her own agenda. I am forever grateful to have my village consisting of confident, wisdom-filled people." -Mimers, Peach, Mamers, Job Boss

I dedicate my thesis to the following people who have tremendously helped me along the way and shaped me into the young lady I am now: Shane Rockwell (Father), Erica Rockwell (Mother), Ethan Rockwell (Brother), Frances Rockwell (Grandmother), Hortencia Chacon (Grandmother), Mary Branscomb (Friend and Coach), Aghata Silva (Friend and Mentor), Arturo Macias (Friend and Mentor). The following family members are no longer with us but helped guide me at a young age to pursue my love for agriculture all while upholding high moral standards: Geralidne Chislom (Great Grandmother), Rocky Rockwell (Grandfather), Floyd Chacon (Grandfather).

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	2
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	3
TABLE OF CONTENTS	5
LIST OF TABLES	7
LIST OF FIGURES	8
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND SYMBOLS	9
CHAPTER I : INTRODUCTION	13
Background of the Study	. 13
Statement of the Problem	. 13
Research Objective	. 14
Style and Form	. 14
CHAPTER II REVIEW OF LITERATURE	16
Supplementation	. 16
Animal Response to Byproduct Supplementation	. 19
Pasture and Soil Response to Supplementation	. 20
Forage	. 21
Tall Fescue	. 21
Origin	. 21
Characteristics and Defoliation Management	. 22
Animal Response	. 23
Red Clover	. 24
Soil Health	. 25
Nitrogen Cycle and its Effects	. 25
Phosphorus Cycle and its Effects	. 27
Potassium Cycle and its Effects	. 28
Managing Soil Health	. 29
Economics	. 31
Beef Cattle Budgeting Strategies	. 33
CHAPTER III INCREASED SUPPLEMENTAL FEED OR INTERSEEDED	
LEGUMES AS A MEANS OF INCREASED NUTRIENT CYCLING IN TALL	

Synopsis	
Introduction	36
Materials and Methods	
Experimental Design	
Pastures and Forages	
Animals	39
Supplemental Feed	40
Allocation and Management of Treatments	40
Field Sampling	
Animal Sampling	
Analytical Procedures	42
Statistical Analyses	44
Results and Discussion	45
Animal Performance	45
Stocking Responses	46
Forage Nutritive Value	47
Soil Responses	49
Soil minerals	49
Soil health	50
Root dynamics	50
Economics	
Conclusion	52
REFERENCES	67

LIST OF TABLES

Table III-1 Nutritive value and cost of supplemental feed used in the evaluation of supplemental feeding or interseeded legumes for increased nutrient cycling in tall fescue (<i>Schedonorus arundinaceus</i> [Schreb.] Dumort., nom. cons.) forage systems	54
Table III-2 Animal performance from steers that received supplemental feed or grazed interseeded legumes in tall fescue forage (<i>Schedonorus arundinaceus</i> [Schreb.] Dumort., nom. cons.) systems	l 55
Table III-3 Pasture-level responses and forage nutritive value from pastures in which steers either received supplemental feed or grazed interseeded legumes in tall fescue (<i>Schedonorus arundinaceus</i> [Schreb.] Dumort., nom. cons.) forage systems	56
Table III-4 Soil health and nutrient status from pastures in which steers either received supplemental feed or grazed interseeded legumes in tall fescue (<i>Schedonorus arundinaceus</i> [Schreb.] Dumort., nom. cons.) forage systems	l s 57
Table III-5 Partial budget analysis from pastures in which steers either received supplemental feed or grazed interseeded legumes in tall fescue (<i>Schedonoru</i> . <i>arundinaceus</i> [Schreb.] Dumort., nom. cons.) forage systems	s 58

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure III-1	1 Blood urea nitrogen ($P < 0.01$) from steers that received supplemental feed or grazed interseeded legumes in tall fescue (<i>Schedonorus</i>	
a	urundinaceus [Schreb.] Dumort., nom. cons.) forage systems5	59
Figure III-2 su a	2 Forage mass ($P < 0.01$) from pastures in which steers either received supplemental feed or grazed interseeded legumes in tall fescue (<i>Schedonorus</i> <i>arundinaceus</i> [Schreb.] Dumort., nom. cons.) forage systems	50
Figure III-3 0 fr ir D	3 Neutral detergent fiber (NDF; $P < 0.01$), acid detergent fiber (ADF; $P < 0.01$), and acid detergent lignin (ADL; $P = 0.17$) concentrations of forages from pastures in which steers either received supplemental feed or grazed nterseeded legumes in tall fescue (<i>Schedonorus arundinaceus</i> [Schreb.] Dumort., nom. cons.) forage systems	51
Figure III-4 0 su a	4 Nitrogen (N; $P < 0.01$), phosphorus (P; $P < 0.01$), and potassium (K; $P < 0.01$) concentrations of forages from pastures in which steers either received supplemental feed or grazed interseeded legumes in tall fescue (<i>Schedonorus arundinaceus</i> [Schreb.] Dumort., nom. cons.) forage systems	52
Figure III-5 0 su a	5 Nitrogen (N; $P < 0.01$), phosphorus (P; $P < 0.01$), and potassium (K; $P < 0.01$) concentrations of soil from pastures in which steers either received supplemental feed or grazed interseeded legumes in tall fescue (<i>Schedonorus urundinaceus</i> [Schreb.] Dumort., nom. cons.) forage systems	53
Figure III-6 st ta fo	6 Calcium (Ca; $P < 0.01$) concentrations of soil from pastures in which teers either received supplemental feed or grazed interseeded legumes in all fescue (<i>Schedonorus arundinaceus</i> [Schreb.] Dumort., nom. cons.) Forage systems	54
Figure III-7 m co p ir D	7 Sodium (Na; $P = 0.16$), manganese (Mn; $P < 0.01$), boron (B; $P = 0.09$), nagnesium (Mg; $P < 0.01$), iron (Fe; $P = 0.03$), aluminum (Al; $P = 0.13$), copper (Cu; $P < 0.01$), and zinc (Zn; $P = 0.38$) concentrations of soil from bastures in which steers either received supplemental feed or grazed nterseeded legumes in tall fescue (<i>Schedonorus arundinaceus</i> [Schreb.] Dumort., nom. cons.) forage systems	65
Figure III-8 ei fe	8 Cation exchange capacity ($P < 0.01$) of soil from pastures in which steers either received supplemental feed or grazed interseeded legumes in tall sescue (<i>Schedonorus arundinaceus</i> [Schreb.] Dumort., nom. cons.) forage systems	56

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND SYMBOLS

The author has made all efforts to observe the accepted abbreviations for *Journal of Animal Science* and *Applied Animal Science* as these are potential outlets for publication. The following list provides the abbreviations accepted by these journals as well as additional acronyms or abbreviations used throughout this document:

Abbreviation	Definition
ADF	acid detergent fiber, expressed inclusive of residual ash and assayed
	sequentially to neutral detergent fiber unless otherwise noted
ADG	average daily gain
ADL	acid detergent lignin
ANOVA	analys(es) of variance
AOAC	Association of Official Analytical Chemists
В	boron
BBREC	Black Belt Research and Extension Center, Marion Junction, AL
BUN	blood urea nitrogen
BW	body weight
BW ^F	final body weight
BW ^I	initial body weight
°C	degree(s) Celsius
C-	centi- $(1 \times 10^{-2}; \text{ prefix for physical units})$
Ca	calcium

CEC	cation exchange capacity
CLOV	forage treatment in which steers were grazing tall fescue pastures
	interseeded with red clover
cmol _c	centimole of charge
CON	negative control forage treatment in which steers were grazing tall
	fescue without additional supplemental feed
СР	crude protein, calculated as nitrogen times 6.25
Cu	copper
d	day(s)
d-	deci- $(1 \times 10^{-1}; \text{ prefix for physical units})$
df	degrees of freedom
DM	dry matter
doi	digital object identifier (used with citations)
F	F-distribution or ratio of variances (also identified as Snedecor's F
	statistic)
FA	forage allowance
Fe	iron
g	gram(s)
h	hour(s)
ha	hectare(s)
hd	head (count of animals)
Κ	potassium
k-	kilo- $(1 \times 10^3; \text{ prefix for physical units})$

KY31	'Kentucky 31', a cultivar of tall fescue
L	liter(s)
M-	mega- $(1 \times 10^6; \text{ prefix for physical units})$
m	meter(s)
m-	milli- $(1 \times 10^{-3}; \text{ prefix for physical units})$
min	minute(s)
Mn	manganese
mo	month(s)
Ν	nitrogen
n	sample size
Na	sodium
NDF	neutral detergent fiber, assayed inclusive of α -amylase (unless
	otherwise stated), exclusive of sodium sulfite (unless otherwise
	stated), and expressed inclusive of residual ash
OM	organic matter
Р	phosphorus
Р	probability
SAS	SAS Institute, Inc. (formerly known as Statistical Analysis System)
SD	stocking density
SEM	standard error of the mean
SUP0.5	forage treatment in which steers were grazing tall fescue pastures
	and offered supplemental feed daily at 0.5% BW

SUP1.0	forage treatment in which steers were grazing tall fescue pastures
	and offered supplemental feed daily at 1.0% BW
t	<i>t</i> -distribution or Student distribution
TVREC	Tennessee Valley Research and Extension Center, Belle Mina, AL
vs.	versus
W	Shapiro-Wilk's <i>W</i> (a measure of normality)
wk	week(s)
wt	weight
yr	year(s)
Zn	zinc
α	probability of Type I error
μ-	micro- (1 \times 10 ⁻⁶ ; prefix for physical units)

CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION

Background of the Study

Supplementation in the cattle industry consists of three main strategies: supply feeding, supplemental feeding, and enhancement feeding (Kellaway and Harrington, 2004). These strategies address five primary dietary deficiencies: protein, fiber, energy, minerals, and vitamins (Hammack et al., 2020). Byproduct feedstuffs are gaining popularity as an economical alternative to traditional commodity feedstuffs (Yang et al., 2021). Supplementation on pastures often reduces pasture dry matter (DM) intake (DMI) while increasing animal performance (Clark et al., 1987; Paterson et al., 1994; Machado et al., 2019). Tall fescue (Schedonorus arundinaceus [Schreb.] Dumort., nom. cons.) is a widely utilized forage grass in the southeastern United States, supporting over 8.5 million beef cattle (USDA, 2017). The presence of endophytes in tall fescue can alter its chemical composition and negatively impact animal performance (reduced body weights [BW] and average daily gains [ADG]; Bush and Burrus, 1988; Bauer, 2015). Proper supplementation strategies can positively impact soil health by increasing nutrient cycling within pasture systems, potentially enhancing soil fertility (Simpson et al., 2014). Byproduct supplementation could reduce labor, time, and processing costs compared to commodity feedstuffs, making it both sustainable and economical (Sun et al., 2024).

Statement of the Problem

The increasing costs of operational inputs, particularly inorganic fertilizers and supplemental feed, have presented significant challenges for cattle producers. Producers face uncertainties regarding the effects of supplementation on pasture utilization and animal performance, simultaneously. Byproduct supplementation has demonstrated positive impacts on animal productivity, including increased final BW, ADG, and gain per hectare (Clark et al., 1987). However, the optimal implementation in order to successfully increase economic revenue, pasture health, and soil fertility is lacking in the literature. Potential health risks associated with negative animal performance effects from forage and improper diet formulation necessitate careful consideration when optimizing nutritive value for ruminants (Owens and Basalan, 2016). These challenges facilitate the need for a comprehensive understanding of supplementation strategies that balance economic feasibility, animal performance, pasture health and soil fertility sustainability in stocker cattle production systems.

Research Objective

The objective of the study was to determine the effects of byproduct supplementation on stocker cattle performance, pasture health, soil health, and soil fertility. We hypothesized that byproduct supplementation feeding of stocker steers at increased levels would achieve substitution effects, becoming a source of feedthrough fertilization due to increased animal performance, pasture health, soil health and soil fertility.

Style and Form

This manuscript was prepared according to "Instructions to Authors (revised 2017)" from *Journal of Animal Science* (ASAS, 2017). All attempts were made to adhere

to this style, except in cases where divergence was needed to adhere to the policies of the Auburn University or to increase clarity in the document.

CHAPTER II

REVIEW OF LITERATURE

Supplementation

Supplementation in the cattle industry aids producers through three main strategies: supply feeding, supplemental feeding, and enhancement feeding (Kellaway and Harrington, 2004; McLennan, 2004; Shastak and Pelletier, 2024). Supply feeding allows the producer to use feedstuffs to supply dietary nutrients when forage resources are limited (Kunkle et al., 2000). Supply feeding may also make use of supplemental feed to offset forage intake, allowing adequate forage regrowth (Kunkle et al., 2000; Mulliniks et al., 2015; Balehegn et al., 2022). Supplemental feeding is designed to address deficiencies in cattle diets that would otherwise limit animal performance (DelCurto et al., 2000; Kunkle et al., 2000; Hills et al., 2015; Empel et al., 2016). Enhancement feeding involves a base of supplemental feed that allows animals to increase the quality of intake and overall efficiency, meeting higher nutrient requirements during specific growth or production phases (Devendra and Lang, 2011; Makkar, 2016; Tona, 2018;). Substitution effects occur when feedstuffs are offered in addition to grazed forage, but the animal consumes the offered feed at the expense of grazing (Heinrichs, 1996; Rearte and Pieroni, 2001; Hazra, 2014).

Producers utilize the three main strategies of feed supplementation for five main dietary deficiencies: protein, fiber, energy, minerals, and vitamins (Hammack et al., 2020). These five dietary deficiencies of supplemental feeds can be and are more commonly corrected through supplementation commodity feedstuffs (Kunkle et al., 2000).

16

Commodity supplementation is a prevalent approach in beef cattle operations involving feeds produced from crops grown solely for animal feeding purposes (Hilimire, 2011; Gerber et al., 2015; Greenwood, 2021). Commodity supplementation includes oilseed meals (e.g., cottonseed meal, soybean meal), cereal grains (e.g., corn, grain sorghum), and whole seeds (e.g., barley, rolled oats; Hammack et al., 2020). Commodity feeds could be found bagged individually or have a mixture of the previously listed feeds, typically including a binder such as molasses (Kutish, 1950; Sarpong, 2020). This mixture is marketed to the producer to conveniently fulfill cattle dietary needs such as protein, fiber, carbohydrates, vitamins, minerals, and energy in a single, complete feed (Hall et al., 2001; Gashaw and Defar, 2017; Sauvant et al., 2023). However, commodity feeds are increasingly becoming less economically advantageous (Popp et al., 2016; Alqaisi et al., 2017). Thus, producers are evaluating alternate feed choices that may generate greater revenue for their operation (Madden, 1967; Wegner and Zwart, 2011; Torgerson, 2016).

Byproduct feedstuff supplementation has gained popularity as an economical alternative that meets or exceeds beef cattle dietary needs when compared with the use of commodity feedstuffs (Kellaway and Harrington, 2004; Yang et al., 2021). Byproducts are proven to be a viable source of supplementation to cattle (Clark et al., 1987; Shabtay et al., 2008; Alao et al., 2017). However, the protein, energy, and fibrous byproducts feedstuffs can vary widely in terms of processing techniques and modes of production (Zhang et al., 2021). Many researchers recommend nutritive value testing of byproduct feedstuffs prior to purchasing due to significant variation in feed value (Silva et al., 2019; Yang et al., 2021). Byproduct supplementation options vary depending on geography (Röös et al., 2016). The northeastern United States is focused more on corn byproducts such as

distillers' grains (Schenpf, 2011; Liu and Rosentrater, 2016). The western United States is focused on other products besides corn such as spent brewers grains (Westendorf and Wohlt, 2022). Florida has a rising usage of citrus pulp (Bakr, 2020; Arthington et al., 2002). The more common options in the southeastern United States include distiller grains, corn gluten feed, soybean hulls, and whole cottonseed (Linn et al., 1993; Poore, 2022).

Corn gluten feed and soybean hulls are currently the two most common byproducts used in the southeastern United States (Kunkle et al., 1999; St. Andrew, 2024). Corn gluten feed is derived from the wet milling of corn kernels (Deepak and Jayadeep, 2022). Initial processing includes the production of corn-based consumer products such as high fructose corn syrup, ethanol, or vegetable oils (Rausch et al., 2019). Wet milling removes components of the feed such as gluten or starches. The resulting product is typically viewed as economically sustainable (Schroeder, 1997), as other energy-demanding manufacturing methods are bypassed. Soyhulls is the more commonly used name for soybean hulls (Webb, 2003). After the soybean is removed from the hull, the hull is further processed by drying and grinding (Lucas, 2004). Though the resulting soybean hulls can be fed loose, it is becoming increasingly common for soybean hulls to be pelleted (Hancock and Behnke, 2000; Acedo-rico et al., 2010; Van der Pol et al., 2020).

Using byproduct feedstuffs, such as corn gluten feed and soybean hulls, can be a source of both economical and sustainable supplementation to improve performance in a grazing system (Salami et al., 2019; NRDC, 2021). Byproduct supplementation results in reduced labor, time, and processing compared to commodity feedstuffs (Sun et al., 2024), making it both sustainable and economical. This approach also mitigates the carbon

footprint of feed production, uses fewer natural sources, and efficiently meets animals' nutritional needs (Ponnampalam and Holman, 2023).

Animal Response to Byproduct Supplementation

Byproduct supplementation has shown positive effects on animal performance such as increased final body weight, average daily gain (ADG), and gain per hectare (Clark et al., 1987). Distillers grains, both wet and dried forms, have generally increased final body weights by 10% and 5%, respectively, when compared with corn-based control diets (Liu, 2011). Corn gluten feed has demonstrated similar benefits, with wet corn gluten feed improving feed efficiency by 5.5% when fed at 60% of diet dry matter (Plascencia and Zinn, 1996). Soybean hull supplementation has shown mixed results, with moderate levels of 0.5% BW increasing ADG in grazing cattle (Hales et al., 2014; Smith et al., 2017). Supplementation at levels greater than 0.5% BW, however, may potentially decrease forage intake and digestibility (Smith et al., 2017). Whole cottonseed supplementation had benefited dairy cows when fed at 15% of dietary dry matter (DM), improving milk production and fat percentage (NRC, 2021). Supplementing distillers dried grains with solubles or corn gluten feed to grazing cattle increased production to 120 kg/ha or 90 kg/ha, respectively (Gunter, 2014). The high fat content of some byproducts may negatively impact rumen function if fed excessively (Salami et al., 2019; Correddu et al., 2020). Therefore, while byproduct supplementation can improve cattle growth performance and production efficiency, careful diet formulation is crucial to optimize nutritive value while avoiding potential health risks to the ruminant animal (Owens and Basalan, 2016).

Pasture and Soil Response to Supplementation

Cattle supplementation on pastures has been extensively studied, with research showing complex effects on forage utilization and pasture health (Mulliniks et al., 2015; Rao et al., 2015). Supplementation often reduces pasture DM intake (DMI) through substitution effects, with studies indicating a decrease of 0.6 kg of pasture intake for every 1 kg of supplement consumed (Paterson et al., 1994; Machado et al., 2019). Protein supplementation can improve intake and utilization of low-quality forages, especially when pasture crude protein falls below 7 to 8% (Leng, 1990; McCollum and Horn, 1990; Bohnert et al., 2002). Moderate supplementation may enhance pasture productivity by allowing for increased stocking rates without sacrificing animal performance. Stocking rates increased by 33% with corn-based supplementation (Kunkle et al., 2000; Gruber, 2024; Murray, 2024). However, excessive supplementation can negatively impact pasture growth by encouraging overgrazing and reducing plant vigor (Bohnert and Stephenson, 2016; Flack, 2016). Supplementation strategies can also influence pasture species composition over time by changing grazing patterns and plant selectivity (Augustine and McNaughton, 1998; Grace et al., 2018). Supplementation increases nutrient inputs into the animal system and cycling within pasture systems, potentially increasing soil fertility (Simpson et al., 2014). Supplementation also risks the potential of nutrient overloading in high traffic areas such as water troughs, feeding bunks, and shaded areas (Bickett-Weddle and Ramirez, 2005). Overall, while supplementation can enhance the utilization of available forage, considerable management is crucial to balance animal performance with long-term pasture sustainability and soil health goals (Rao et al., 2015; Guyader et al., 2016; Teague, 2018).

Forage

Tall Fescue

Origin

Tall fescue (*Schedonorus arundinaceus* [Schreb.] Dumort., nom. cons.) is a European forage utilized as a turf grass or as an agricultural forage for livestock (Craven et al., 2009). Tall fescue, a thriving perennial, flourishes in various environmental conditions such as drought, poor soil health, and different climates. In the 1800s, tall fescue was introduced to the United States as a forage and was commonly used among its settlers until the early 1930s (Hoveland, 2009). The forage was first pioneered in the Pacific Northwest of the United States, specifically in Oregon (Craven et al., 2009). Craven et al. (2009) stated that grazing management systems utilizing tall fescue was not as commonly used as other forages, such as orchard grass.

Dr. Fergus from the University of Kentucky discovered what would become 'Kentucky 31' (KY31) tall fescue growing wild on the William Suiter farm in Menifee, Kentucky, and decided to investigate the forage's grazing qualities, such as vigor and disease/insect resistance, yield, and nutritive value (Craven et al., 2009; Hoveland, 2009). The cultivar was released to the public in 1943 and promoted for its vigor, disease resistance, and weather resilience (Hoveland, 2009). Kentucky 31 quickly gained popularity as the forage proved adaptable, persistent, and high yielding, particularly in the transition zone (the eastern side of the U.S., the divide between northeastern and southeastern states). Tall fescue has become a critical forage as almost 90% of beef cattle producers use grazing as a fundamental practice in their nutritional management systems (Dubeux Jr., 2017).

Characteristics and Defoliation Management

Tall fescue is a widely utilized forage grass in the southeastern and eastern central United States, supporting over 8.5 million beef cattle on approximately 10.12 million hectares (USDA, 2017). Tall fescue typically contains 11 – 15% crude protein, depending on seasonal factors and fertilization practices (Belesky et al., 1984). The presence of endophytes can slightly alter its chemical composition, with increased endophyte varieties showing increased crude protein levels compared to low endophyte varieties (Bush and Burrus, 1988). Tall fescue's extensive root system allows for efficient nutrient absorption from the soil, significantly impacting the plant's nutritive value (Huang and Fry, 1998).

Defoliation, primarily through grazing, significantly impacts tall fescue growth and quality (Brink et al., 2010; Moot et al., 2021). Optimal growth for grazing scenarios is achieved with defoliation occurring every 14-d, ensuring that animals' nutritional needs are met while maintaining forage health (Kerrisk and Thomson, 1990). Uniform defoliation patterns are crucial to prevent overgrazing and maintain future grazing patterns (Flack, 2016). Grazing management strategies, such as rotational grazing and supplemental feeding, benefit the forage by allowing for resting periods and optimal growth (Paine et al., 1999; Undersander et al., 2002; Badger et al., 2017). Frequent spring defoliation is particularly beneficial, as the growing season typically extends from early April to the end of October, with decreased forage allowance from June to middle of August (Volenec and Nelson, 1983). By following these research-based fertilization and defoliation practices, producers can effectively improve tall fescue vigor, yield, and nutritive value while mitigating potential negative impacts on plant and animal health (Held and Potter, 2012).

Animal Response

Animal responses to tall fescue consumption have been extensively studied, revealing significant impacts on growth performance, productivity, and health (Porter et al., 1992; Sleper and West, 1996; Niedrecker et al., 2018). Tall fescue, particularly KY31, is known for its excellent environmental stress tolerance and higher dry matter yield under both optimal and drought conditions (Barnes, 2018). However, this grass is also considered toxic due to the endophytic fungus, Epichloe coenophiala, which produces ergot alkaloids, particularly ergovaline (Dinkins et al., 2023). The presence of these alkaloids leads to a notable disconnect between laboratory estimates of nutritive value and actual animal responses. Cattle grazing endophyte-infected tall fescue typically experience reduced BW gain and ADG compared to those on endophyte-free varieties (Bauer, 2015). Specifically, ADG reductions can range from 30-100% (Stuedemann and Hoveland, 1988). The severity of these performance reductions often increases with higher temperatures as both heat stress and alkaloid concentrations in the forage rise concurrently (Hemken et al., 1981). Consequently, beef cattle losses in the United States have been estimated at over \$600 million annually due to reduced calf births and lower weaning weights (Hoveland, 1993). Research by Farney et al. (2018) investigated the impact of performance-enhancing strategies on steer performance in tall fescue pastures with varying levels of toxicity. This study found that an individual implementation or combination of implants, ionophores, and supplementation improved animal gains, particularly in pastures with higher ergovaline concentrations (Diaz et al., 2018; Farneyet al., 2018; Gomez, 2019). The proportion of endophyte-infected plants in a pasture can vary widely, affecting the severity of performance reduction (Agee and Hill, 1994). This variability contributes to the wide range

of animal responses observed in production settings, which may not correlate with the measured nutritive value of tall fescue (Waghorn and Clark, 2004; Sollenberger et al., 2011). Effective management strategies are essential to optimize animal production on tall fescue pastures (Williamson et al., 2016; Barnes, 2018). Cattle grazing endophyte-infected tall fescue typically experience reductions in ADG of more than 50%, with weight gains dropping during warmer months due to increased heat stress and reduced feed intake (Hoveland et al., 1983; Ferguson et al., 2021). Careful management is crucial for optimizing animal responses and mitigating the negative effects of endophyte-infected tall fescue on cattle health and productivity (Ingram, 2019; Gomez, 2023).

Red Clover

Red clover (*Trifolium pratense* L.) is native to Europe, western Asia, and northwest Africa (Jones et al., 2020). It was introduced to North America by European colonists in the 17th century and has become an important forage legume (Stinner et al., 1992; Russelle, 2001). Red clover cell walls typically contains 20-30% cellulose, 10-20% hemicellulose, 5-10% lignin, and 10-20% pectin (Barwick, 1989; Heredia, 1995; Laine, 2005; Chen, 2014; Lin et al., 2024). This indicates that clover generally has lower lignin content than grasses, contributing to its higher digestibility (Buxton and Russell, 1988; Bakken et al., 2011). Red clover, being a legume, allows for common fertilization practices to only increase cell wall composition (Mckenna et al., 2018). Nitrogen fertilization, when used with a legume, is able to increase fixation of atmospheric N (LaRue and Patterson., 1981; Crews and Peoples, 2004). Additional excessive N fertilization to legumes is not recommended as the fertilization may increase the mineralization of N (Kessel et al., 2000). Potassium

fertilization from legume usage increased winter survival and disease resistance as plant structure increased (Kresge, 1974). Optimal fertilization of red clover should be based on professional soil testing (Taylor and Smith, 1980; Gaudin et al., 2014). Phosphorus and potassium are carefully considered as the two main fertilization strategies, as N in excess can be a limiting factor (Delgado et al., 2024) Animal responses to red clover include increased palatability, digestibility, and protein intake (Weinert-Nelson et al., 2023).

Incorporating legumes like alfalfa or birdsfoot trefoil into tall fescue pastures improved forage yield and livestock performance (Cox, 2013; Bingham, 2014; Briscoe, 2018). Steers grazing tall fescue-legume mixtures showed higher average daily gains compared to those on tall fescue with or without nitrogen fertilization (Interrante et al., 2012, Bingham, 2014). Negative effects regarding animal responses are increased chances of bloat and phytoestrogens affecting the reproduction of the animal (Bingham, 2014). Overall, clover inclusion into the diet of cattle has a larger positive impact than a negative impact (Johansen et al., 2017; Dineen et al., 2018;).

Soil Health

Nitrogen Cycle and its Effects

The nitrogen cycle is crucial to plant, animal, and soil life environments. It consists of complex biological processes that reduce, add, and transfer nitrogen across various organisms within the soil ecosystem. The nitrogen cycle encompasses five key processes: denitrification, nitrification, fixation, leaching, and mineralization (Fenice, 2021). Denitrification is the process by which nitrate is reduced to gaseous forms of nitrogen via bacteria, typically resulting in nitrite and nitrogen gas (N₂) gases. Nitrification occurs when nitrifying bacteria and archaea oxidize ammonium into nitrate (Hayatsu et al., 2008). Fixation involves converting atmospheric N_2 into biologically available nitrogen through biological nitrogen fixation (Harrison, 2010). Leaching happens when available nitrate is leached from the soils due to heavy rainfall or human activities such as irrigation (Robertson and Goffman, 2024). Mineralization is a time-consuming process where microorganisms in the soil convert organic forms of N into inorganic forms through decomposition (Hayatsu et al., 2008).

Nitrogen is vital for fertilization as it allows plants to achieve leafy growth (Leghari et al., 2016). In grazed pastures, N availability directly influences the quantity and quality of forage produced. Research indicates that applying N at rates of 34-56 kg/ha can significantly enhance grass growth, particularly in grass-dominant pastures (USDA, 2017). Fertilization has been extensively studied for its effects on tall fescue vigor, yield, and nutritive value (Cowan, 1956; Sleper et al., 1996). Nitrogen application, particularly when applied in late fall at rates of 45-56 kg N/ha, increased tiller count and plant size (Molla and Tana, 2019; Mulugeta, 2019). Nitrogen further promoted the development of short rhizomes that produce new tillers and help plants spread on bare areas (Mulugeta, 2019). Fall fertilizer application also leads to faster spring green-up and improved root development in the following growing season, giving fertilized plants a competitive advantage over weeds and enhancing drought tolerance (Turner etal., 1992; Duble, 1996; O'Connor, 2009). Yield responses to N are substantial, with unfertilized tall fescue typically yielding about 1,270 kg of hay per acre (Laycock, 1982; Clark, 2006; Manevski et al., 2022). Crude protein levels in the forage increase at higher N rates, assuming timely harvest (Rotz and Muck, 1994; Nelson et al., 2012). Optimizing grazing while minimizing risks of extensive yield maturity, research suggests applying 101-135 kg N/ha for hay production, or about 15 g N/ kg of expected yield (Collins et al., 2020; Van Die, 2020).

The timing of N applications is critical; the first application should ideally occur in early spring to stimulate growth after winter dormancy (Smith and Kefford, 1964). A second application in mid spring or late summer can promote forage allowance and fall growth (Weisz et al., 2001).

Phosphorus Cycle and its Effects

The phosphorus cycle affects soils, water bodies, and living organisms through several processes: mineralization, immobilization, weathering, precipitation, adsorption, desorption, and dissolution (Tian et al., 2021). Mineralization involves converting organic phosphorus to inorganic phosphorus via soil microbes (Prasad and Chakraborty, 2019). Weathering occurs as soil minerals containing phosphorus are slowly released. Precipitation happens when insoluble phosphorus compounds with other minerals such as iron or calcium (Sims and Pierzynski, 2005). Adsorption refers to phosphorus binding with soil particles (Cornell University, 2005), while desorption involves releasing bound phosphorus back into the soil solution (Tian et al., 2021). Dissolution releases phosphorus from compound minerals into the soil solution (McConnell et al., 2020).

Phosphorus is essential for root development, energy transfer, and photosynthesis. It plays a critical role in establishing new pastures and maintaining existing ones. Deficiencies in phosphorus can lead to stunted growth and poor forage quality. Optimal soil test levels for phosphorus typically range from 45-56 kg/ha (USDA, 2017). Regular soil testing every four years is recommended to monitor phosphorus levels and ensure they remain within optimal ranges for pasture productivity. In intensively grazed pastures, over 80% of the phosphorus removed through grazing is recycled back into the soil via fecal matter and urine (Vendramini et al., 2007). Timing applications before planting or during early growth phases can maximize uptake by plants.

Potassium Cycle and its Effects

Potassium is essential for plant health as it regulates various physiological processes including water uptake and enzyme activation. The potassium cycle consists of five processes: weathering, absorption, fixation, leaching, and recycling from plant residue (Rawat et al., 2016). Weathering releases K from mineral compounds in the soil (Dotaniya et al., 2016), while absorption occurs as roots take up potassium (Drew et al., 1969). Fixation happens when K compounds bind within mineral structures; bound K can be released under certain conditions (Pandey, 2015). Leaching occurs when excess water causes K loss from the soil environment (Kayser and Isselstein, 2005). Recycling refers to the long-term process where plant residues after harvest are incorporated back into the soils to make K available again for plant uptake (Dotaniya et al., 2016). Soil properties such as density and organic matter impact K availability; dense soils lacking organic matter decrease available K for plants (Zorb et al., 2014). Soil moisture and temperature also influence K fixation; excessive water can leach away nutrients, while drier climates may render K unavailable (Bhattacharya et al., 2021).

Potassium is a fertilizer nutrient that can be used to observe the health of the plant from the plant's growth and development (Etesami et al., 2017). Tall fescue, specifically KY31, is known for its persistence when adequate amounts of K are applied. Potassium commonly works in conjunction with nitrogen fertilization (Vough et al., 1994). Potassium fertilization rates are approximately 168 kg/ha, and the tall fescue stands allow for 25% more yield (Vough et al., 1994). Potassium used in small amounts dictates how healthy a forage is as it affects water management, root growth, plant vigor, disease resistance, and growth. Potassium affects water management as it allows for the efficiency of water to increase, therefore decreasing water loss, wilting, and drought susceptibility (Grzebisz et al., 2013). Potassium also increases the root development of plants, therefore increasing nutrient uptake (Shewmaker et al., 2008). Plant vigor is accomplished with K fertilization as the plant has established root stricture, ensuring above ground plant material is structurally sound and rapidly grows (Baidoo, 2022). Disease resistance is accomplished through K fertilization as the cell wall thickness is increased and infectious diseases are deterred (Ortel et al., 2024). Plant growth is accomplished from potassium fertilization as increased photosynthesis, enzymatic processes, and nutrient transportation come from adequate water, energy, nutrients and carbohydrates (Rawat et al., 2022).

Managing Soil Health

Microminerals heavily impact many aspects of soil health, such as pH, structure, organic matter, and nutrient availability (Shukla et al., 2018). The soil structure, manganese, and iron can heavily affect the pH in a soil system (Suda and Makino, 2016). These minerals impact how fluid the soil structure becomes as the minerals enable solubility to occur and how plant available all nutrients are to the plant (Bronick and Lal, 2005). Zinc is a micromineral that makes P readily available to the plant (Singh et al.,

2010). In return, high amounts of P are an inhibitor of minerals such as iron and Zn (Mousavi, 2011).

Increasing soil organic matter (SOM) enhances soil structure while improving water retention capacity along with nutrient availability (Bashir et al., 2021). Higher SOM levels contribute to improved resilience against erosion and degradation (Bronick and Lal, 2005). Practices such as incorporating cover crops or using manure can improve SOM over time (Ding et al., 2006). Research has shown that integrating cover crops into pasture systems can increase SOM by enhancing root biomass along with promoting microbial diversity (Frasier et al., 2016).

Maintaining an optimal pH is crucial for nutrient availability in soils (Neina, 2019). Most forage crops thrive at a pH of around 5.5 to 7.5 (Fernandez and Hoeft, 2009). Thus, lime applications may be necessary to correct acidic soils (Goulding, 2016.). Soil pH affects nutrient solubility, particularly that of P and K, making it essential to monitor pH levels regularly (Penn and Camberato, 2019). Regular testing helps track changes over time; if tests indicate acidic conditions below pH 6.0, lime should be applied according to recommendations based on specific crop needs (Laekemariam and Kibret, 2021).

Cation exchange capacity (CEC) serves as an important indicator of overall fertility since it reflects how well soils hold onto essential nutrients like calcium (Ca), magnesium (Mg), K, and sodium, among others (Hodges, 2010; Osman, 2013). Soils exhibiting higher CEC values retain more nutrients available for plant uptake, directly influencing pasture productivity (Agegnehu et al., 2016). Understanding CEC informs fertilization strategies since low CEC soils may require more frequent applications or different management practices aimed at enhancing nutrient retention (Zou et al., 2019; Kalacsits et al., 2020). In conclusion, managing soil health through targeted fertilization strategies focusing on N, P, K, microminerals, increasing organic matter, maintaining optimal pH levels, and understanding cation exchange capacity are critical elements sustaining productive grazed pastures. Regular testing combined with adaptive management practices will help optimize nutrient availability, improving overall pasture health (Coulding et al., 2008).

Economics

Cattle operations are a vital part of the agricultural economy. Cattle operations significantly contribute to rural livelihoods and global food (Upton, 2004). Understanding the economic factors such as cost implications of supplementation strategies, and fertilizer costs for producers seeking to enhance profitability and sustainability (Rotz et al., 2014; Gunter et al., 2020).

Several correlated factors, such as input costs and reduced revenue, influence the economic viability of cattle operations (Bowman and Ziberman, 2013). Forage and feed costs are typically the largest expense (60-70%) of total operational expenditures (Gunter et al., 2020). These feedstuff costs fluctuate due to grain market volatility, climate conditions, and shifts in geographical demand (Wilson and Ougrin, 2021). For example, drought can decrease hay and pasture availability, forcing producers to use increased supplemental feeds (Horn et al., 2003).

Stocker cattle operations face specific economic challenges, including price risk due to vulnerability to changes in feeder cattle prices between purchase and sale (Hill, 2015). Production efficiency is also crucial for operations. Managing fixed costs associated with land equipment and infrastructure are essential (Ochieng et al., 2020). Fixed costs remain constant regardless of production levels and could significantly impact net income if not meticulously managed (Marn and Rosiello, 1992). Producers must evaluate their operational scale and efficiency to minimize the negative effects of fixed costs on profitability (Cooper and Kaplan, 1988; Hansen, 2001). Reduced animal performance indicators include decreased ADG and feed efficiency, which influence overall profitability (Ramsbottom et al., 2015). Health management of stocker cattle is another inhibitor of production efficiency (Sweiger and Nichols, 2010). Health issues can increase veterinary costs or lead to potential mortality losses (Bennet, 2003). High morbidity rates among received cattle often arise from stress related to transportation and environmental changes (Bhattacharya et al., 2021). Effective health management strategies are essential to mitigate health-associated risks and ensure the animals reach target weights efficiently (Asem-Hiablie et al., 2016).

Forage allowance also poses a significant challenge for stocker operations that are heavily reliant on pasture-based grazing management systems (Rayburn, 2007; McNeil, 2020). Environmental factors, such as drought and excessive rainfall, can limit forage production (Niederecker et al., 2018). Insufficient forage may lead to producers purchasing chemical fertilizer or supplemental feeds, further constraining profit margins (Gunter et al., 2021). Chemical fertilizer costs are considered volatile due to global demand and energy price fluctuations (Skorupka and Nosalewicz, 2021). Chemical fertilizers are energy intensive, and prices often mirror oil prices due to manufacturing (Schnepf and Yacobucci, 2020). Chemical fertilizer prices create an economic challenge to producers as inflation has recently demonstrated a 66% increase year-over year (Good, 2022). Current costs for fertilization are \$1.75/kg for N, \$1.14/kg for P, and \$1.16/kg for K (Quinn, 2024). These fertilizer prices exceed the \$1.10/kg threshold for economical pasture fertilization, making fertilizer application less economically viable compared to hay production or feed purchase (Good, 2022; Johnson, 2022).

Supplemental feeding remains popular among cattle producers dealing with poor forage quality and mass as they are able to reduce grazing stress (Horn and McCollum, 1987; Smith, 2017). Producers weigh out the cost of using traditional commodities versus byproduct feeds for supplementation. Byproducts such as distillers grains, corn gluten feed, soyhulls, and beet pulp often provide an economical source of nutrients compared to commodity feedstuffs (NRDC, 2021). However, increased transportation and storage costs associated with certain byproducts have limited the producers to byproducts that geographically surround them in order for byproducts to remain a cost-effective alternative compared to commodity feedstuffs (NRC, 2021).

Beef Cattle Budgeting Strategies

Effective budgeting is essential for managing the financial aspects of cattle operations. Two types of budgets are commonly used: enterprise budgets and partial budgets. Enterprise budgets provide a comprehensive overview of all costs and returns associated with a specific enterprise within the operation such as cow-calf production or stocker operations, allowing producers to assess overall profitability (Boehlje and Eidman, 1984). Partial budgets focus specifically on evaluating the financial impact of changes within the operation without requiring a full enterprise budget analysis (Sim et al., 2011). Partial budgeting allows producers to quickly assess potential changes in an operation such

as adopting new feeding strategies or investing in improved health management practices (Bewley et al., 2010). Partial budgeting can accomplish this by concentrating only on costs and returns that will potentially be changed (Boehlje and Eidman, 1984). Partial budgeting is particularly useful when comparing alternative practices or investments since it provides a streamlined method for analyzing potential outcomes without overwhelming complexity (Hanninen, 2013). By focusing on specific areas where changes may occur, producers can make informed decisions that enhance their operational efficiency and net income.

Understanding the economics of cattle operations involves analyzing various factors ranging from feed costs and market prices to health management challenges and budgeting practices (Amir and Knipscheer, 1989). Stocker operations face economic challenges that require meticulous management strategies to navigate efficiency (Allioui and Mourdi, 2024). Lastly, decisions regarding feed supplementation could have significant cost implications that influence overall profitability.

CHAPTER III

INCREASED SUPPLEMENTAL FEED OR INTERSEEDED LEGUMES AS A MEANS OF INCREASED NUTRIENT CYCLING IN TALL FESCUE PASTURE SYSTEMS

Synopsis

In Alabama, forage-based beef cattle operations are prevalent. However, with inflated input costs related to inorganic fertilizer, economic cattle production is challenging. One management decision under consideration in these circumstances is the choice of investment in inorganic fertilizer for pastures for supplemental feed for cattle. The objective of the study was to determine the effects of byproduct supplementation on stocker cattle performance, pasture health, soil health, and soil fertility. We hypothesized that byproduct supplementation of stocker steers at increased levels would achieve substitution effects, becoming a source of feedthrough fertilization for pasture nutrient cycling. Stocker steers (n = 60) were used in a put-and-take grazing and supplementation experiment, arranged in a generalized complete block design across two locations. Treatments included a 0.5 or 1.0% BW supplemental feed (SUP0.5 or SUP1.0, respectively), interseeded red clover (CLOV), or a negative control (tall fescue pasture only; CON). Forage allowance was targeted at 1.5 kg DM/kg BW, and steers grazed pastures for approximately 84 d. There was an effect of treatment ($P \le 0.01$) for ADG, additional gain from supplementation, and gain per hectare. There was no effect of treatment ($P \ge 0.10$), however, on forage mass or nutritive value, nor was there an effect of treatment for $(P \ge 0.22)$ for soil pH, OM, N, P, K, or microminerals. Results are

interpreted to mean that the one-year scale of stocker supplementation may not offset chemical fertilizer inputs, though partial budgets indicated increased revenue.

Introduction

In total, about 15.8 million hectares of land in the United States are dedicated to tall fescue production (USDA, 2017). The southeastern United States, which includes Texas, Arkansas, Louisiana, Mississippi, Alabama, Georgia, Tennessee, North Carolina, South Carolina, and Florida, encompasses approximately 130 million hectares of land (USDA, 2017). Among these states, approximately 5.67 million ha are utilized for grazing tall fescue, making it the predominant forage choice for about 70% of producers in the region (USDA, 2017; Dubeux Jr, 2017). Despite its resilience and adaptability to different environmental conditions, tall fescue requires intensive fertilizer inputs. This presents economic challenges for producers, especially in light of rising fertilizer costs. Recently, the input cost of inorganic fertilizer applications has seen a 66% year-over-year increase (Good, 2022). Current fertilizer costs are \$1.75/kg for N, \$1.14/kg for P, and \$1.16/kg for K (Quinn, 2024). These prices exceed the \$1.10/kg economic threshold, making fertilizer application less economically viable compared to hay production or purchase (Johnson, 2022).

Grazed feed constituting nearly a quarter (23%) of operational costs, producers are questioning the value of maintaining pasture and soil fertility for forage mass preservation (Johnson, 2022). This is due to the fact that input costs are increasing with stagnant or decreasing revenue (Barkema and Drabenstott, 1990; Veysset et al., 2019). Supplemental feeding remains popular among cattle producers dealing when faced with poor forage
quality or mass (Horn and McCollum, 1987; Smith, 2017). Supplemental feeding at increased levels can potentially inhibit overall forage intake by substituting for daily requirements (Huston et al., 2002). Nevertheless, the general strategy aims to increase both forage intake and animal performance (Smith, 2017). This approach aligns with consumer concerns, as 95% of American consumers express interest in cattle access to adequate nutrition, including supplementation strategies, forage quality, and pasture size (USDA, 2017).

Recent studies have demonstrated the potential of feedthrough fertilization through supplementation strategies. Decreased forage intake due to supplementation could increase stocking density up to 21% (Smith et al., 2020). Hines (2021) found supplemented steers could excrete up to 0.5% N, 0.2% P, and 0.2% K through feces, potentially resulting in annual excretions of 14.6 kg N, 6.6 kg P, and 6.6 kg K per animal. Additionally, cattle fecal matter can provide adequate phosphorus levels to meet forage growth and development needs (Dillard et al., 2015). These research findings suggest that grazing cattle with increased supplementation levels could serve as a viable alternative or complement to traditional inorganic fertilizer input. However, the potential for intentionally utilizing supplemental feeding to support pasture productivity and soil health remains largely unexplored. Furthermore, there has been no comprehensive examination of the economic threshold for using supplemental feed to increase pasture fertility and soil health. Therefore, the objective of this study was to determine the effects of byproduct supplementation on stocker cattle performance, pasture health, soil health, and soil fertility.

Materials and Methods

All procedures for this experiment were approved by the Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) of Auburn University under Animal Use Protocol #2023-5325.

Experimental Design

This experiment was conducted as a generalized complete block design (randomized complete block design with replication within blocks; Cochran and Cox, 1957). The blocking factor was location and had two levels. The single treatment factor, supplementation, included four levels.

Pastures and Forages

Eight replicate pastures (1.0 ha) were used at the Black Belt Research and Extension Center (BBREC; 32.47° N, 87.23° W), and twelve replicate pastures (1.0 ha) were used at the Tennessee Valley Research and Extension Center (TVREC; 34.69° N, 86.88° W) in this 1-yr grazing and supplementation experiment. Soil types represented in the pastures at BBREC were Houston clay (Very-fine, smectitic, thermic Oxyaquic Hapluderts; 62.2% of land area), Leeper silty clay loam (Fine, smectitic, nonacid, thermic Vertic Epiaquepts; 20.4% land area) and Sumter silty clay (Fine-silty, carbonatic, thermic Rendollic Eutrudepts; 17.4% of land area). Soil types represented in the pastures at TVREC were Etowah silt loam (Fine-loamy, siliceous, semiactive, thermic Typic Paleudults; 84.1% of land area) and Ennis silt loam (Fine-loamy, siliceous, semiactive, thermic Fluventic Dystrudepts; 15.3% of land area). Pastures were fertilized with 22.68 kg N (granular) per ha prior to initiation of the experiment at BBREC (January 2024). Pastures were fertilized

with 22.68 kg N (granular) at TVREC on 13 March 2024. No phosphorus or potassium fertilizer was applied at TVREC because soil tests indicated adequate P and K. Pastures in which supplemental feed was offered or clover was sown, no additional fertilizer occurred.

Two pastures at BBREC and three pastures at TVREC were sown with 'AU Red Ace' red clover (*Trifolium pratense* L. var. *sativum*). Clover was sown at 4.53 kg/ha on on 11 November 2024 at TVREC. This seeding rate was chosen to achieve a legume inclusion rate of 30% at BBREC and TVREC; actual inclusion throughout the season averaged 25%.

Animals

Backgrounded stocker steers were sourced from a private contractor and received on 2 February 2024 at BBREC (n = 42) and 9 February 2024 at TVREC (n = 63). Weaning occurred a minimum of 30 d prior to receiving. For pre-conditioning, steers received inoculation (and booster, as required) for blackleg (*Clostridium* spp.), bovine respiratory syndrome virus, *Hemophilus somnous*, infectious bovine rhinotracheitis, parainfluenza 3, and *Pasteurella*. Steers were also castrated and dehorned (as necessary) prior to receiving.

Upon receiving at the respective REC, steers were quarantined for 30-d. On arrival, steers were tested for common bovine infectious diseases (i.e., bovine viral diarrhea virus, Johne's disease, anaplasmosis). During quarantine, steers were housed *en masse*, offered *ad libitum* access to grass hay and supplemental feed (50/50 blend of corn gluten feed and soybean hulls), and monitored for illness. Four steers were removed from BBREC and three from TVREC after testing positive for anaplasmosis.

Supplemental Feed

The supplemental feed was a pelleted blend of corn gluten feed feed/soybean hulls (1:1 ratio) sourced from each REC location co-op. A 230-g sample of supplemental feed was collected every 14 days for assessment of nutritive value (Table III-1).

Allocation and Management of Treatments

At each location, steers were stratified by initial body weight into groups, and groups were randomly assigned to each of the replicate pastures. Pastures were then randomly allocated to one of four supplementation treatments: 0.5% BW daily supplementation (SUP0.5), 1.0% BW daily supplementation (SUP1.0), interseeded red clover (CLOV), or negative control (tall fescue pasture only; CON). Water and trace mineralized salt (NaCl) were provided for *ad libitum* consumption.

Forage treatments were stocked at forage green up (3 March 2024 and 11 March 2024 for BBREC and TVREC, respectively). Pastures were managed in a variable stocking method (put-and-take) described by Mott and Lucas (1852). Forage treatments were continuously stocked with three tester steers (n = 60; n = 24 and 36 at BBREC and TVREC, respectively) beginning at forage green-up (3 March 2024 and 11 March 2024 for BBREC and TVREC, respectively). To manage excess forage growth above the target allowance (1.5 kg DM/kg BW), additional put-and-take steers were used as grazers to keep forage in a vegetative state (Mott and Lucas, 1952; Sollenberger and Burns, 2001).

Steers assigned to SUP0.5 or SUP1.0 were group-fed supplemental feed each morning. The amount of supplemental feed offered to each pasture was adjusted following each 28-d weigh period to represent a designated proportion of BW.

Grazing was terminated at each location when the forage allowance would no longer support the three continuously stocked tester steers. This occurred on the 22 May 2024 and 5 June 2024 at BBREC and TVREC, respectively, resulting in total grazing periods of 79 and 87 d, respectively.

Field Sampling

At the initiation of stocking and at 14-d intervals thereafter, forage mass was assessed by destructive harvest with battery-operated clippers (Makita, La Miranda, CA, USA) at six random locations within each pasture using a 0.25 m² quadrat. Six subsamples were collected in random locations from each paddock. Two of the subsamples were used for botanical separation to determine pasture species composition, and the remaining four were used to determine forage biomass and nutritive value.

At the initiation of stocking and at 28-d intervals thereafter, soil cores were taken to a depth of 15-cm at 10 random locations in each pasture to determine soil nutrient concentrations, including CEC, pH, and soil organic matter (SOM). Auburn University Department of Animal Sciences conducted ingrowth traps and root mass was determined according to the procedures of Cooley et al. (2019).

Forage and feed samples were dried at 55°C in a gravity convection oven for at least 72-h. Once dry, samples were ground to pass through a 2-mm screen using a Eberbach E3500 Series Mill (Eberbach Corporation, Van Buren Charter Township, MI, USA), then a subsample ground to pass through a 1-mm screen. Ground samples were stored at ambient conditions until further analysis.

Animal Sampling

At the initiation of stocking, and at 28-d intervals thereafter, steers were weighed for determination of ADG and to inform decisions on stocking density and forage allowance. At each weigh date, a fecal sample was collected *per rectum* for the determination of nutrient excretion. At the initial weigh date, the weigh date on d 56, and the weigh date at the termination of the experiment, blood was collected by jugular venipuncture for assessment of nitrogen metabolism, mineral status, and plasma concentrations of lysergic acid (a metabolite of ergovaline found in tall fescue).

Fecal and blood samples were transported on ice from the respective REC to the laboratory in Auburn, AL. Fecal samples were stored at -20°C until further analysis. Serum was separated by centrifugation at $15,000 \times g$ for 10 min and stored at -20°C until further analysis.

Analytical Procedures

Blood urea nitrogen was determined using the ThermoFisher Urea Nitrogen (BUN) colorimetric detection kit (Pub. No MAN0025406). Briefly, 96-well plates were prepared as the serum samples were thawing at room temperature to ensure a lack of nitrogen dissipating from the sample. Serial dilutions were conducted for 8 standards, from 10 mg/dL to 0.3135 mg/dL. Serum samples, after thawed, were diluted in a 1:10 using deionized water. Each well received 50 μ L of diluted serum or standard. Lastly, 75 μ L of

two color reagents A (acidic solution for color) and B (acidic solution for color) were pipetted into each well and were incubated at room temperature for 30 min. The microLiter plate was read at 450 nm for absorbance analysis. Absorbance was recorded utilizing the standard samples linear regression curve.

Feed and forage samples were assayed for dry matter (DM) and organic matter (OM) according to the procedures of AOAC (2000). Neutral and acid detergent fibers (NDF and ADF, respectively) were determined according to the procedures of Vogel et al. (1999) using the ANKOM^{DELTA} (Ankom Technologies, Macedon, NY, USA). Acid detergent lignin (ADL) was determined according to the procedures of AOAC (2000) using the ANKOM Daisy^{II} incubator. Minerals (N, P, and K) was determined by the University of Georgia's Agricultural and Environmental Laboratory according to the procedures of Saha et al. (2020).

Soil was assayed for, pH, CEC, N, and Mehlich-3 extractable minerals by the Soil, Water, and Forage Testing Laboratory at Auburn University according to the procedures of Sikora et al. (2014). Soil organic matter was determined by the University of Georgia's Soil Testing Laboratory according to the procedures of Nelson and Sommers (1996).

Economic analysis was conducted using a partial budgeting approach (Gittinger, 1982; Kay, Edwards and Duffey, 2019). The partial budget was calculated using the following equation:

Net change in profit = (additional revenue + reduced cost) – (reduced revenue + additional costs)

Reduced cost was quantified based on the expense of chemical fertilizer (N, P, and K) applied. Additional revenue was calculated using the producer provided sale prices. The

sum of reduced cost and additional revenue constituted a positive economic impact. Additional costs encompassed expenses associated with supplementary preventative measures (e.g., deworming), cattle treatments (e.g., pink eye management), and any extra inorganic fertilizer applications. Reduced revenue, typically accounting for culled cattle, was not applicable in this study. The sum of additional cost and reduced revenue represented a positive economic impact.

Statistical Analyses

Data were analyzed using SAS 9.4 (SAS Institute Inc.). Prior analysis, raw data were tested using the PROC UNIVARIATE and the NORMAL option to ensure the data were normally distributed.

All response variables were analyzed using the generalized linear mixed models procedure (PROC GLIMMIX) in SAS. 9.4. Animal-level responses (initial and final BW, ADG, additional gain from supplementation, and feed offered) were analyzed using the fixed effect of treatment and random effects of location, paddock within location, and animal within paddock by location. Blood urea N was treated as repeated measurement on the subject of paddock within location which included fixed effect of treatment and random effect of location, paddock within location, and animal within paddock by location. Pasture-level responses (gain per hectare, forage allowance, and stocking rate) were analyzed using the fixed effect of treatment and random effects of location and paddock within location. Forage and soil responses were treated as repeated measures on the subject of paddock within location with the fixed effect of treatment, and random effect of location and paddock within location. For all analyses, denominator degrees of freedom were adjusted using the second order Kenward-Roger approximation method (Kenward and Roger, 2009).

The α -level for the mean differences was set at 0.05. Means separations were conducted using *F*-protected *t*-tests with the Tukey-Kramer adjustment (Kramer, 1956). Differences were declared when $P < \alpha$.

Results and Discussion

There was no interaction of treatment and day of study (P > 0.08) for any response variable measures. Thus, for the remainder of this section, main effects will be discussed.

Animal Performance

By design, there were no differences among treatments (P = 0.17) for initial BW of steers (Table III-2). There were differences, however, among treatments ($P \le 0.01$) for final BW, ADG, and additional gain from supplementation. Steers from SUP1.0 had the greatest (P < 0.05) final BW, ADG, and additional gain from supplementation. By contrast, steers from CON had the least (P < 0.05) final BW and ADG. Steers from SUP0.5 and CLOV were intermediate to the two. Steers from SUP1.0 had a 10% increase in final BW and a 62% increase in ADG compared with CON. These differences between SUP1.0 and CON are supported by previous studies (Hill et al., 2015; Smith et al., 2020). The lack of difference, however, between CON and SUP0.5 are in contrast to the findings of Smith et al. (2020) but align with the findings of Smith et al. (2021). These discrepancies in response to supplementation are likely indicative of nuances related to supplemental feeding (the provision of a limiting nutrient) and enhancement feeding (the synergistic effect of feeding that can result in positive or negative associative effects).

There were differences among study days (P < 0.01; Figure III-1), but not among treatments or the interaction of treatment and day ($P \ge 0.17$; Table III-2) for BUN. Data on nitrogen consumption (Vendramini, 2024) and absorption into the blood (Lavery, 2021) suggest that this pattern should coincide with the overall nitrogen cycling in the forage's seasonal availability and quality. While the CP concentration of supplemental feed was consistent throughout the experiment, forage CP concentrations decreased with time, potentially creating an imbalance of protein derived from supplementation and energy derived from forages (Vanderhoff et al., 2024).

Stocking Responses

There were no differences among treatments (P = 0.84) or interactions of treatment and day (P = 0.83) for forage mass (Table III-3). However, forage mass increased (P < 0.05) from the beginning of the season through the mid-point, then declined toward the conclusion of grazing (Figure III-2). At trial initiation, the forage height was approximately 25.4 cm, which is considered above the optimal grazing height (Castillo, 2022). This could indicate increased forage maturity. Fescue palatability is inversely correlated to its maturity (Van Santen, 1992). Additionally, senesced material could explain why there was an increase on d 28 compared to d 14 as the forage mass was able to recover from grazing of dead material on the pastures (Nelson et al., 1994; Rotz et al., 1994).

By design, there were no differences among treatments for forage allowance (P = 0.29). However, there were also no differences among treatments for stocking rate (P = 0.29).

0.79; Table III-3). The average forage allowance of 1.9 kg DM/kg BW exceeded the initial target forage allowance of 1.5 kg DM/kg BW. While an excessive forage allowance becomes non-limiting in assessing ADG potential of the grazing animal, this abundance of forage potentially masked the effects of supplementation strategies on pasture utilization (Carmo et al., 2013; Ford, 2014; Clark, 2016; Hersom, 2020). Smith et al. (2020; 2021) found stocking rate differences with titrated supplementation; however, in those studies, forage allowance was much lower (approx. 1 kg DM/kg BW) and, thus, grazing pressure allowed for observations about pasture utilization potential. Others have found, though, that supplementation may not alter pasture stocking rates (Silva et al., 2013; Aaron et al., 2015).

In spite of the lack of treatment effects for stocking rate, however, there was an effect of treatment for gain per hectare (P = 0.01; Table III-3). Pastures assigned to SUP1.0 had the greatest (P < 0.05) gain (276 kg/ha), and those from CON had the least (169 kg/ha), with SUP0.5 and CLOV intermediate. This increase in gain per unit area is consistent with previous observations about the effect of supplemental feeding in the grazing environment (Vendramini et al., 2007; Smith et al., 2020; Smith et al., 2021)

Forage Nutritive Value

There was no effect of treatment ($P \ge 0.10$) nor interaction of treatment by day (P ≥ 0.07) for forage concentrations of ADF, ADL, N, P, or K (Table III-3). There were, however, differences among treatments (P = 0.02) for forage concentrations of NDF. Forage concentrations of NDF were greatest (P < 0.05) from CON and least from CLOV, with both supplemental treatments intermediate. Neutral detergent fiber is related to the potential voluntary intake of the grazing animal (Tekce and Gul, 2014). The lower the NDF concentration, the higher the potential intake (ACES, 2019). Nutrient-dense feedstuffs (legumes and supplemental feed) typically result in lower NDF values (Lardy and Waterman, 2020). The observations in this experiment could have been a response to minor differences in grazing patterns within the pastures in which supplemental nutrition (feedstuffs or legumes) was offered.

There was an effect of day (P < 0.01) for forage concentrations of NDF and ADF, but not ADL (P = 0.17; Figure III-3). While forages tend to increase in fiber concentrations across a season, even when supplemental feed is offered (Smith et al., 2020; Smith et al., 2021), the consistent grazing pressure observed in our experiment may have suppressed any potential effect of forage maturity. No differences in ADL were expected as Kanapeckas et al. (2011) found that tall fescue growing in the spring season has consistent ADL fractions.

There was an effect of day (P < 0.01) for forage concentrations of N, P, and K (Figure III-4). Nitrogen concentrations decreased over time, while P and K concentrations increased with time. These responses were of interest because they could serve as indicators of plant uptake of nutrients deposited through the supplemental feeding. Phosphorus increasing over the duration of the study suggests a translocation later in the growing season (Grant et al., 2001). Early-season potassium concentrations are consistent with cool season grasses exhibiting luxury consumption of K (Brejda, 2000), while increased values in the remainder of the study could be attributed to forage mass accumulation (Drewnoski et al., 2009).

Soil Responses

Soil minerals

There was no effect of treatment ($P \ge 0.22$) or interaction of treatment and day ($P \ge 0.08$) for any soil mineral (Table III-4). This was surprising given the findings of Hines (2021) that manure from steers receiving supplemented feed resulted in increased forage growth potential, at least at the greenhouse scale. By extension, these changes should have resulted in an alteration of the soil nutrient profile. However, we posit that the length of the experiment (one yr) was not sufficient to see an incorporation of organic nutrients that would be derived from fecal material into the soil mineral profile.

There was an effect of day (P < 0.05) on soil N, P, and K (Figure III-5). Soil N decreased (P < 0.05) with time, while soil P and K increased (P < 0.05) with time, with the breakpoint occurring around d 56. A decrease in soil N could occur for many reasons, such as lack of microbial activity, uneven grazing, leaching, and plant uptake (Russelle, 1992; McGovern et al., 2014). Consistent forage allowance would likely rule out uneven and overgrazed paddocks decreasing the nitrogen (Gao et al., 2004; Yan et al., 2015). The increase in soil P and K across the trial could lend credence to the notion that time was not sufficient to see treatment differences from the deposition of organic nutrients.

There was an effect of day on soil Ca (P < 0.01; Figure III-6), Mn (P < 0.01), Mg (P < 0.01), Fe (P = 0.01), and Cu (P < 0.01; Figure III-7). Calcium and magnesium accumulated in a similar pattern to that observed in soil P and K (Figure III-5). Manganese decreased (P < 0.05) across the season. There was no discernable pattern, though, for Fe or Cu. Microminerals are indicators of overall soil health, affecting forage quality (Li et al., 2022). Improved soil structure, root development, and animal bone health result from

higher calcium and magnesium values (McDowell and Valle, 2000). Sodium, boron, iron, and aluminum can alter rumen fermentation, nutrient digestibility, and disease/disorder susceptibility (White et al., 2019; Sprinkle et al., 2020; Lopez et al., 2021).

Soil health

There were no differences among treatments ($P \ge 0.26$; Table III-4), days ($P \ge 0.35$), or their interaction ($P \ge 0.47$) for SOM or pH. The average organic matter value in the soil was approximately 6%, while the average pH was approximately 7.0. While we would have anticipated that supplementation and its expected concomitant increase stocking rate would have resulted in increased SOM through manure deposition, we nevertheless did not observe a negative impact of cattle management on soil health.

There was no effect of treatment (P = 0.70) or interaction of treatment and day (P = 0.59) for soil CEC (Table III-4). There was, however, an effect of day (P < 0.01) on soil CEC (Figure III-8). The CEC of pasture soil decreased (P < 0.05) with time. A decrease in cations from leaching could be an explanation for this change (Wu et al., 2023).

Root dynamics

There was no effect of treatment (P = 0.77) on root growth as measured via the ingrowth technique (Table III-4). Differences in soil fertility over time ($P \le 0.01$), despite the absence of differences (P > 0.08) among treatments, suggest that the slow release of mineral deposits may have led to uniform soil conditions across treatments (Fageria et al., 2011; Houde et al., 2020; Table 2). This gradual nutrient accumulation could have resulted in similar root growth patterns consistent with soil and forage N (Fransen et al., 1998;

Dubeux Jr. et al., 2007; Table 2; Table 3). Lastly, the limited sample size due to the successful retrieval of only 17 out of 36 ingrowth traps may have introduced variability, potentially masking any subtle differences in root growth (Goldsmith et al., 2022). The 87-d incubation period, while sufficient for observing above-ground growth, may not have been sufficient to detect significant differences in root development under supplementation for fertilization conditions.

Economics

Partial budgeting analysis revealed that supplementation strategies for stocker cattle had increased profitability compared to control or red clover-supplemented paddocks (Table III-5). This finding was driven by the additional weight gain and pounds sold of supplemented cattle. Net profit changes of \$2,126.75, \$2,540.99, and \$455.00 were observed from SUP0.5, SUP1.0, and CLOV, respectively, compared to CON. Supplementation of steers at 1% BW was the most economical option for producers, considering a shift from additional inorganic fertilization to byproduct supplementation. However, the choice between supplementation strategies may depend on the producer's financial situation and pasture goals, with CLOV inclusion potentially serving as a viable alternative. It is crucial to note that this trial did not observe soil fertilization differences between treatments, and future studies could provide a more comprehensive economic analysis by considering long-term effects and the potential for complete replacement of chemical fertilizers.

The selling times for different treatments varied across locations, with supplemented steers sold shortly after the trial, legume-treated steers sold in mid-July due to animal performance effects, and control steers sold in mid-September. While this selling approach may not be ideal for research purposes, it realistically demonstrates the impacts of management strategies on cattle performance and market timing (Hampel and Schroeder, 1998; Coffey, 2001).

Byproduct supplementation demonstrated several benefits, including mitigation of negative animal responses to tall fescue, provisions of a cost-effective alternative to additional inorganic fertilizers, improvement of stocker steer animal performance, pasture, and soil health through natural fertilization (Rochon et al., 2004; Nkoa, 2014; Tichenor, 2016; Teague and Kreuter, 2020; Murray, 2024).

The initial year of this two-year trial focused on establishing uniform paddock soil conditions through consistent inorganic fertilization, creating a standardized nutrient baseline across all experimental paddocks. This preparatory phase is crucial for subsequent years' data, which will accurately reflect the economic implications of substituting inorganic fertilizer with byproduct supplementation.

Conclusion

Supplementation of steers grazing tall fescue pasture resulted in enhanced animal performance. Among the four treatments, SUP1.0 resulted in the greatest final BW and ADG, and steers receiving SUP0.5 and CLOV performed similarly. The lack of differences in stocking rate in this experiment means that animals likely did not substitute supplemental feed for forage intake as the management strategy would have dictated. In the one-yr scope of this experiment, contrary to our original hypothesis, there were also no changes observed in soil nutrient status. Partial budgets indicated that SUP1.0 could increase producer profits

compared to CON and CLOV due primarily to increased cattle gain. However, this profit is subject to year-to-year fluctuations due to volatile inorganic fertilizer and byproduct feed prices. We concluded that byproduct supplementation remains a viable management strategy for stocker cattle, though these effects may not translate to systemic nutrient cycling benefits. A second year of this experiment is planned to observe longer-term effects of these management strategies on the animal-plant-soil interface.

1	Table	III-1	Nutritive	value	and	cost	of	supplemental	feed	used	in	the	eval	uatior	ı of
ŝ	supple	mental	l feeding o	or inter	seed	ed leg	gum	nes for increas	sed nu	trient	cyc	cling	; in t	all fes	scue
((Schea	lonoru	s arundinc	aceus [Schr	eb.] [Dum	nort., nom. co	ns.) fo	rage s	yst	ems			

Nutrient ² , % DM							
Location	OM	NDF	ADF	СР	Р	K	Cost ³
BBREC	89.5	51.2	31.4	14.92	0.55	1.53	\$2.00
TVREC	89.3	50.9	29.2	14.23	0.49	1.42	\$1.46

¹BBREC = Black Belt Research and Extension Center, Marion Junction, AL; TVREC = Tennessee Valley Research and Extension Center, Belle Mina, AL

 2 NDF = neutral detergent fiber, assayed inclusive of α -amylase, exclusive of sodium sulfite, and expressed inclusive of residual ash; ADF = acid detergent fiber, expressed inclusive of residual ash and assayed sequentially to neutral detergent fiber; CP = crude protein; P = phosphorus; K = potassium

³Cost is based on the price paid per kg by the respective research and extension center at the time of feed purchase.

Item	CON	SUP0.5	SUP1.0	CLOV	SEM ²	<i>P</i> -value
Initial BW, kg	266	266	269	268	22.8	0.96
Final BW, kg	309 ^b	329 ^{ab}	340 ^a	321 ^{ab}	23.9	< 0.01
ADG, kg/d	0.5 ^b	0.8^{ab}	0.9 ^a	0.6 ^{ab}	0.07	0.01
Additional gain, kg/d	0.0	0.2^{ab}	0.3 ^a	0.1^{ab}	0.08	< 0.01
Feed offered, kg	0.0	0.5 ^b	1.1 ^a	0.0	0.01	< 0.01
Feed-to-gain ratio,	_	24	38	_	2 19	_
kg/kg BW		2.7	5.0		2.17	
Blood urea N, mg/dL	1.1	1.1	1.0	1.2	0.07	0.17

Table III-2 Animal performance from steers that received supplemental feed or grazed interseeded legumes in tall fescue forage (*Schedonorus arundinaceus* [Schreb.] Dumort., nom. cons.) systems

¹CON = negative control forage treatment in which steers were grazing tall fescue without additional supplemental feed; SUP0.5 = forage treatment in which steers were grazing tall fescue pastures and offered supplemental feed (1:1 ratio of corn gluten feed and soybean hulls) daily at 0.5% BW; SUP1.0 = forage treatment in which steers were grazing tall fescue pastures and offered supplemental feed (1:1 ratio of corn gluten feed and soybean hulls) daily at 1.0% BW; CLOV = forage treatment in which steers were grazing tall fescue pastures interseeded with red clover (*Trifolium pratense* L.) ²SEM = standard error or the mean

^{a, b}Means within a row without common superscripts letters are different ($P \le 0.05$).

Item ¹	CON	SUP0.5	SUP1.0	CLOV	SEM ³	<i>P</i> -value
Forage mass, kg DM/ha	1,901	1,960	2,053	1,933	218.2	0.84
Forage allowance, kg DM/kg BW	1.8	1.9	2.0	1.8	0.09	0.70
Stocking rate, kg BW/ha	1,060	1,125	1,106	1,187	181.1	0.78
Gain per hectare, kg/ha	169 ^b	243 ^{ab}	276 ^a	193 ^{ab}	34.3	0.01
NDF, % DM	62.7 ^a	61.4 ^{ab}	60.3 ^{ab}	57.9 ^b	0.02	0.02
ADF, % DM	32.4	32.5	31.9	31.2	0.02	0.11
ADL, % DM	4.0	4.0	3.8	4.1	0.002	0.85
N, % DM	1.9	1.9	1.9	2.1	0.34	0.12
P, % DM	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.3	0.03	0.10
K, % DM	1.6	1.7	1.7	1.8	0.25	0.71

Table III-3 Pasture-level responses and forage nutritive value from pastures in which steers either received supplemental feed or grazed interseeded legumes in tall fescue (*Schedonorus arundinaceus* [Schreb.] Dumort., nom. cons.) forage systems

 1 NDF = neutral detergent fiber, assayed inclusive of α -amylase, exclusive of sodium sulfite, and expressed inclusive of residual ash; ADF = acid detergent fiber, expressed inclusive of residual ash and assayed sequentially to neutral detergent fiber; ADL = acid detergent lignin; N = nitrogen; P = phosphorus; K= potassium

²CON = negative control forage treatment in which steers were grazing tall fescue without additional supplemental feed; SUP0.5 = forage treatment in which steers were grazing tall fescue pastures and offered supplemental feed (1:1 ratio of corn gluten feed and soybean hulls) daily at 0.5% BW; SUP1.0 = forage treatment in which steers were grazing tall fescue pastures and offered supplemental feed (1:1 ratio of corn gluten feed and soybean hulls) daily at 1.0% BW; CLOV = forage treatment in which steers were grazing tall fescue pastures interseeded with red clover (*Trifolium pratense* L.) ³SEM = standard error or the mean.

Item ¹	CON	SUP0.5	SUP1.0	CLOV	SEM ³	<i>P</i> -value
N, %	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.04	0.70
P, ppm	15	17	22	22	27	0.22
K, ppm	163	178	192	196	49.0	0.69
Ca, ppm	5,199	5,258	5,174	5,266	2,959.9	0.96
Na, ppm	49	49	47	48	4.3	0.74
Mn, ppm	44	41	40	45	41.9	0.81
B, ppm	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.10	0.42
Mg, ppm	149	158	159	166	42.3	0.90
Fe, ppm	4.3	4.1	4.8	4.8	4.42	0.54
Al, ppm	141	142	135	138	138.4	0.71
Cu, ppm	1.4	1.50	1.5	1.7	1.2	0.77
Zn, ppm	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.27	0.98
SOM, %	6.1	6.2	5.8	6.0	1.94	0.63
CEC, cmol _c /kg	21.1	21.4	21.0	21.1	10.97	0.70
pН	6.9	7.0	7.0	7.0	0.63	0.26
Root growth ⁴ ,						
mg/cm ³ ·d	0.23	0.18	0.17	0.08	0.105	0.77

Table III-4 Soil health and nutrient status from pastures in which steers either received supplemental feed or grazed interseeded legumes in tall fescue (*Schedonorus arundinaceus* [Schreb.] Dumort., nom. cons.) forage systems

 ^{1}N = nitrogen; P = phosphorus; K = potassium; Ca = calcium; Na = sodium; Mn = manganese; B = boron; Mg = magnesium; Fe = iron; Al: aluminum; Cu = copper; Zn = zinc; SOM = soil organic matter; CEC = cation exchange capacity

²CON = negative control forage treatment in which steers were grazing tall fescue without additional supplemental feed; SUP0.5 = forage treatment in which steers were grazing tall fescue pastures and offered supplemental feed (1:1 ratio of corn gluten feed and soybean hulls) daily at 0.5% BW; SUP1.0 = forage treatment in which steers were grazing tall fescue pastures and offered supplemental feed (1:1 ratio of corn gluten feed and soybean hulls) daily at 1.0% BW; CLOV = forage treatment in which steers were grazing tall fescue pastures interseeded with red clover (*Trifolium pratense* L.) ³SEM = standard error or the mean

⁴Root growth was measured via the ingrowth technique across the 87-d grazing period only at the Tennessee Valley Research and Extension Center location.

Table III-5 Partial budget analysis from pastures in which steers either receivedsupplemental feed or grazed interseeded legumes in tall fescue (Schedonorus arundinaceus[Schreb.] Dumort., nom. cons.) forage systems

	Treatment ¹					
Item	CON	SUP0.5	SUP1.0	CLOV		
Additional revenue ²	\$18,500.00	\$21,175.00	\$22,137.50	\$19,250.00		
Reduced cost ³	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00		
Reduced revenue ⁴	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00		
Additional cost ⁵	\$26.50	\$574.76	\$1,123.02	\$321.50		
Net change in profit ⁶	\$18,473.50	\$20,600.25	\$21,014.49	\$18,928.50		

¹CON = negative control forage treatment in which steers were grazing tall fescue without additional supplemental feed; SUP0.5 = forage treatment in which steers were grazing tall fescue pastures and offered supplemental feed (1:1 ratio of corn gluten feed and soybean hulls) daily at 0.5% BW; SUP1.0 = forage treatment in which steers were grazing tall fescue pastures and offered supplemental feed (1:1 ratio of corn gluten feed and soybean hulls) daily at 1.0% BW; CLOV = forage treatment in which steers were grazing tall fescue pastures interseeded with red clover (*Trifolium pratense* L.)

²Additional revenue was calculated as No. of steers \times (sales price \times steer BW).

³Reduced cost represents the savings in cost of additional inorganic fertilizer for treatments that did not receive additional fertilization.

⁴There was no reduced revenue because no morbidity or mortality was observed in the experiment.

⁵Additional costs represent the cost of additional deworming treatments for CON, the cost of supplemental feed for SUP0.5 and SUP1.0, and the cost of clover seed for CLOV. ⁶Net change in profit = (additional revenue + reduced cost) –

(reduced revenue + additional costs)



Figure III-1 Blood urea nitrogen (P < 0.01) from steers that received supplemental feed or grazed interseeded legumes in tall fescue (*Schedonorus arundinaceus* [Schreb.] Dumort., nom. cons.) forage systems



Figure III-2 Forage mass (P < 0.01) from pastures in which steers either received supplemental feed or grazed interseeded legumes in tall fescue (*Schedonorus arundinaceus* [Schreb.] Dumort., nom. cons.) forage systems



Figure III-3 Neutral detergent fiber (NDF; P < 0.01), acid detergent fiber (ADF; P < 0.01), and acid detergent lignin (ADL; P = 0.17) concentrations of forages from pastures in which steers either received supplemental feed or grazed interseeded legumes in tall fescue (*Schedonorus arundinaceus* [Schreb.] Dumort., nom. cons.) forage systems



Figure III-4 Nitrogen (N; P < 0.01), phosphorus (P; P < 0.01), and potassium (K; P < 0.01) concentrations of forages from pastures in which steers either received supplemental feed or grazed interseeded legumes in tall fescue (*Schedonorus arundinaceus* [Schreb.] Dumort., nom. cons.) forage systems



Figure III-5 Nitrogen (N; P < 0.01), phosphorus (P; P < 0.01), and potassium (K; P < 0.01) concentrations of soil from pastures in which steers either received supplemental feed or grazed interseeded legumes in tall fescue (*Schedonorus arundinaceus* [Schreb.] Dumort., nom. cons.) forage systems



Figure III-6 Calcium (Ca; P < 0.01) concentrations of soil from pastures in which steers either received supplemental feed or grazed interseeded legumes in tall fescue (*Schedonorus arundinaceus* [Schreb.] Dumort., nom. cons.) forage systems



Figure III-7 Sodium (Na; P = 0.16), manganese (Mn; P < 0.01), boron (B; P = 0.09), magnesium (Mg; P < 0.01), iron (Fe; P = 0.03), aluminum (Al; P = 0.13), copper (Cu; P < 0.01), and zinc (Zn; P = 0.38) concentrations of soil from pastures in which steers either received supplemental feed or grazed interseeded legumes in tall fescue (*Schedonorus arundinaceus* [Schreb.] Dumort., nom. cons.) forage systems



Figure III-8 Cation exchange capacity (P < 0.01) of soil from pastures in which steers either received supplemental feed or grazed interseeded legumes in tall fescue (*Schedonorus arundinaceus* [Schreb.] Dumort., nom. cons.) forage systems

REFERENCES

- Acedo-Rico, J., J. Méndez, and G. Santomá. 2010. Feed manufacturing, Nutrition of the Rabbit. CABI Wallingford UK. 200-221.doi:10.1079/9781845936693.0000.
- Adnan, M. R., C. N. Lee, and B. Mishra. 2022. Adverse effects of phytoestrogens on mammalian reproductive health. Vet. Med. Anim. Sci. 10(1).doi:10.7243/2054-3425-10-1.
- Aiken, G. 2016. Invited Review: Grazing management options in meeting objectives of grazing experiments. Pro. Anim. Sci. 32(1):1-9. doi:10.15232/pas.2015-01406.
- Alao, B. O., A. B. Falowo, A. Chulayo, and V. Muchenje. 2017. The potential of animal by-products in food systems: Production, prospects and challenges. Sustain. 9(7). doi:10.3390/su9071089.
- Allioui, H. Allioui, A., and Y. Mourdi.2024. Maintaining effective logistics management during and after COVID-19 pandemic: survey on the importance of artificial intelligence to enhance recovery strategies.1(45). doi:10.1007/s12597-023-00728.
- Alqaisi, O., O. A. Ndambi, and R. B. Williams. 2017. Time series livestock diet optimization: cost-effective broiler feed substitution using the commodity price spread approach. Agric. Food Econ.5:1-19. doi:10.1186/s40100-017-0094-9.
- Al-Tamimi, J. (2002). Effect of nitric oxide donors on thermoregulation and performance of rats and cattle experiencing fescue toxicosis during heat stress. University of Missouri-Columbia. 3060086.
- Alstrup, L., Nielsen, M., Lund, P., Sehested, J., Larsen, M. K., and Weisbjerg, M. R. (2015). Milk yield, feed efficiency and metabolic profiles in Jersey and Holstein

cows assigned to different fat supplementation strategies. Livest. Sci.178: 165-176. doi:10.1016/j.livsci.2015.06.026.

- Amir, P. and Knipscheer, mC., 1989. Conducting On-Farm Animal Research: Procedures & Economic Analysis. <u>https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED313503</u> (accessed 1 October 2024).
- Andueza, D., A. Rodrigues, F. Picard, N. Rossignol, R. Baumont, U. Cecato, and A. Farruggia. 2016. Relationships between botanical composition, yield and forage quality of permanent grasslands over the first growth cycle. Grass and Forage Sci. 71(3):366-378. doi:10.1111/gfs.12189.
- Andrews, E. M., Kassama, S., Smith, E. E., Brown, P., and Khalsa, S. D. S. (2021). A review of potassium-rich crop residues used as organic matter amendments in tree crop agroecosystems. Agric. 11(7): 580. doi:10.3390/agriculture11070580.
- AOAC. 2000. Official method of analysis of the Association of Official Analytical Chemists International. 17th ed. Association of Official Analytical Chemists, Gaithersburg, MD, USA.
- Arthington, J. D., Kunkle, E., and A. M. Martin. 2002. Citrus pulp for cattle. Vet. Clin.:Food Anim. Pract. 18(2):317-326. doi: 10.1016/S0749-0720(02)00023-3.
- Arowolo, M. A., and He, J. (2018). Use of probiotics and botanical extracts to improve ruminant production in the tropics: Rev. Anim. Nutri. 4(3): 241-24. doi:10.1016/j.aninu.2018.04.010.
- Arya, M. K., and Lakra, N. U. Soil Nutrient Cycling and Management. In SOIL, 69. 9. <u>https://doi.researchgate.net/profile/Rojalin-Hota-</u>

2/publication/384801388_MODERN_APPROACHES_IN_SOeIL_SCIENCE_V

OLUME 7_2/links/6707c2beffe5b728123e68f1/MODERN-APPROACHES-IN-SOIL-SCIENCE-VOLUME-7-2.pdf#page=77. (accessed 1 October 2024).

- Asem-Hiablie, S., C. A. Rotz, R. Stout, and K. Fisher. 2017. Management characteristics of beef cattle production in the western United States. Prof. Anim. Sci. 33(4):461-471. doi:10.15232/pas.2017-01618.
- Asem-Hiablie, S., C. A. Rotz, R. Stout, and K. Stackhouse-Lawson. 2016. Management characteristics of beef cattle production in the Northern Plains and Midwest regions of the United States. Prof. Anim. Sci. 32(6):736-749. doi:10.15232/pas.2016-01539.
- Augustine, D. J., and S. J. McNaughton. 1998. Ungulate effects on the functional species composition of plant communities: herbivore selectivity and plant tolerance. J. Wildl. Mgmt.1165-1183. doi:10.2307/3801981.
- Bakken, A., Å. Randby, and P. Udén. 2011. Changes in fibre content and degradability during preservation of grass–clover crops. Anim. feed Sci. Tech. 168(1-2):122-130. doi:10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2011.03.016.
- Bakr, M. 2020. Citrus pulp as an innovative feed ingredient in ruminant nutrition. A review.
 Egypt. J. Anim. Prod. 57(Suppl. Issue):73-80.
 <u>https://journals.ekb.eg/article_98258_c158c109bc9c844e9d681b34b069b26f.pdf</u>
 (accessed 1 October 2024).
- Balehegn, M., Ayantunde, A., Amole, T., Njarui, D., Nkosi, B.D., Müller, F.L., Meeske, R., Tjelele, T.J., Malebana, I.M., Madibela, O.R. and Boitumelo,S., 2022. Forage conservation in sub-Saharan Africa: Review of experiences, challenges, and opportunities. Agron. J., 114(1):75-99. doi:10.1002/agj2.20954.

- Ball, D. M., M. Collins, G. Lacefield, N. Martin, D. Mertens, K. Olson, D. Putnam, D. Undersander, and M. Wolf. 2001. Understanding forage quality. American Farm Bureau Federation Publication 1(01):1-15.
- Ball, D. M., C. S. Hoveland, and G. D. Lacefield. 2015. Southern forages: Modern concepts for forage crop management. 5th ed. International Plant Nutrition Institute, Peachtree Corners, GA, USA.
- Barkema, A.D. and Drabenstott, M., 1990. the Cattle Industry. Economi, p.47. <u>https://doi.kansascityfed.org/documents/785/1990-</u> Full%20publication.pdf#page=49 (accessed 1 October 2024).
- Barnes, R., C. Nelson, M. Collins, and K. Moore. 2003. Forages. Volume 1: An introduction to grassland agriculture. <u>https://doi.cabidigitallibrary.org/doi/full/10.5555/20033036851</u> (accessed 1 October 2024).
- Barnes, R. F. 2018. Importance and problems of tall fescue, Biotechnology in tall fescue improvement. CRC Press. p. 1-12. ISBN 9781351070317 (accessed 1 October 2024).
- Barwick, J. M. 1989. Effect of ensilage and digestion on the components of the cell wall of perennial ryegrass, white clover and lucerne. University of Glasgow (UK). 1989. 11003343.
- Bashir, O., T. Ali, Z. A. Baba, G. Rather, S. Bangroo, S. D. Mukhtar, N. Naik, R.Mohiuddin, V. Bharati, and R. A. Bhat. 2021. Soil organic matter and its impact on soil properties and nutrient status. Microbiota and biofertilizers, Vol 2: Ecofriendly

tools for reclamation of degraded soil environs:129-159. doi:10.1007/978-3-030-61010-4_7.

- Beauchemin, K. 2018. Invited review: Current perspectives on eating and rumination activity in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 101(6):4762-4784. doi:10.3168/jds.2017-13706.
- Bedford, M. R., and J. H. Apajalahti. 2022. The role of feed enzymes in maintaining poultry intestinal health. J. Sci. Food Agric. 102(5):1759-1770. doi:10.1002/jsfa.11670.
- Beever, D., and F. Mould. 2000. Forage evaluation for efficient ruminant livestock production. doi:10.1079/9780851993447.0015.
- Belesky, D., M. Fishman, and S. Wilkinson. 1984. Effect of nitrogen fertilization and mild water stress on the distribution of nitrogen in tall fescue. Plant Soil 77:295-303. doi:10.1007/BF02182932.
- Bennet, N., and L. Anderson. (2003). Challenging the Conventions. In: N. Bennet and L. Anderson (Eds.), Rethinking Educational Leadership. doi:10.4236/jct.2016.79064.
- Bewley, J. 2010. Precision dairy farming: Advanced analysis solutions for future profitability. In: The First North American Conference on Precision Dairy Management. https://doi.researchgate.net/profile/Jeffrey-Bewley/publication/267711814 Precision Dairy Farming Advanced Analysis Solutions for Future Profitability/links/582f650f08ae138f1c0356cd/Precision-Dairy-Farming-Advanced-Analysis-Solutions-for-Future-Profitability.pdf (accessed 1 October 2024).

- Bhattacharya, A., and A. Bhattacharya. 2021. Mineral nutrition of plants under soil water deficit condition: A Review. Soil water deficit and physiological issues in plants. 287-391. doi:10.1007/978-981-33-6276-5_4.
- Bingham, T. J. 2014. Plant and animal performance in tall fescue and tall fescue/legume pastures. Utah State University.1584287.
- Bickett-Weddle, D. and Ramirez, A., 2005. Dairy biological risk management. <u>https://dr.lib.iastate.edu/server/api/core/bitstreams/0b6cab4e-bff7-4d5d-a81a-</u> <u>af178f0c6a2f/content</u> (accessed 1 October 2024).
- Blodgett, D. J. 2001. Fescue toxicosis. Vet. Clin. N. Amer: Equi. Practice 17(3):567-577. doi:10.1016/S0749-0739(17)30052-4.
- Boehlje, M. D., and V. R. Eidman. 1984. Farm management. Wiley New York. Agricultural Systems, Elsevier.18(1): 61-65. (accessed 1 October 2024).
- Bohnert, D., C. Schauer, and T. DelCurto. 2002. Influence of rumen protein degradability and supplementation frequency on performance and nitrogen use in ruminants consuming low-quality forage: Cow performance and efficiency of nitrogen use in wethers. J. Anim. Sci. 80(6):1629-1637. doi:10.2527/2002.8061629x.
- Bohnert, D., and M. Stephenson. 2016. Supplementation and sustainable grazing systems.J. Anim. Sci. 94(6):15-25. doi:10.2527/jas.2016-0520.
- Bowman, M. S., and D. Zilberman. 2013. Economic factors affecting diversified farming systems. Ecol. Soc. 18(1). doi:10.5751/ES-05574-180133.
- Brejda, J.J., 2000. Fertilization of native warm-season grasses. Native warm-season grasses: Research trends and issues. 30.177-200. doi:10.2135/cssaspecpub30.c12.
- Brink, G., M. Casler, and N. Martin. 2010. Meadow fescue, tall fescue, and orchardgrass response to defoliation management. Agron. J. 102(2):667-674. doi:10.2134/agronj2009.0376.
- Bronick, C. J., and R. Lal. 2005. Soil structure and management: a review. Geoderma. 124(1-2):3-22.doi:10.1016/j.geoderma.2004.03.005.
- Bush, L., and P. Burrus Jr. 1988. Tall fescue forage quality and agronomic performance as affected by the endophyte. J. Prod. Agric. 1(1):55-60.doi:10.2134/jpa1988.0055.
- Buxton, D., and J. R. Russell. 1988. Lignin constituents and cell-wall digestibility of grass and legume stems. Crop Sci. 28(3):553-558. doi:10.2135/cropsci1988.0011183X002800030026x.
- Carvalho, P., and T. Felix. 2021. Effects of feeding dry-rolled corn or whole shelled corn on feedlot performance, carcass characteristics, and eating behavior of finishing Holstein steers. Appl. Anim. Sci. 37(2):132-139. doi:10.15232/aas.2020-02069.
- Clark, J., M. Murphy, and B. Crooker. 1987. Supplying the protein needs of dairy cattle from by-product feeds. J. Dairy Sci. 70(5):1092-1109. doi:10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(87)80116-9.
- Clark, S. L. 2006. Forage quality and performance of tall fescue hay amended with broiler litter and commercial fertilizer. <u>https://trace.tennessee.edu/utk_gradthes/1528/</u> (accessed 1 October 2024).
- Coffey, B. K. 2001. New input and output risk management strategies for livestock producers. University of Kentucky Master's Theses. 164. https://uknowledge.uky.edu/gradschool_theses/164 (accessed 1 October 2024).

- Collins, M., K. J. Moore, and C. A. Roberts. 2017. Forage utilization. Forages, Volume 1: An Introduction to Grassland Agric. 1:287.
- Connor, E. 2015. Invited review: Improving feed efficiency in dairy production: Challenges and possibilities. Anim. 9(3):395-408. doi:10.1017/S1751731114002997.
- Cooper, R. and Kaplan, R.S., 1988. Measure costs right: make the right decisions. 66(5):96-103. https://d1wqtxts1xzle7.cloudfront.net/55841894/588_3930libre.pdf?1519051865=&response-contentdisposition=inline%3B+filename%3DMeasure_Costs_Right_Make_the_Right_D ecis.pdf&Expires=1732320722&Signature=MWQWCIVaeWtWBfUvUnFM2Z6 ZwmGcTXNU5gMUB2mxbb6uilU4RKHLwkq4t2~~MUb5XIF7~6X~81ZPBHv vD2RrgyFei5Li7dzN4bdlcxo4e1rPo3M9sQLfND1WrYtyfbzROZpWHE~a-ILfPoKq~B2PmBduHmrM5IHMzGWeKc9qiGqXNu6O27buHXIKS018Ib5t99HE4vcDO30i7nhmN3FFrCc16JN4E5eXgODFhgRbE H2HBU4KtbV-0KRrTBU6NY2AUj~xrJ52ny0RF7bkNcK2hUl3bTK-iWVjf0Hbu9WCaZ3B0x6nQUyQikE8N0cPuYlx~662uE99LvjEWnz~T14g_&Key-Pair-Id=APKAJLOHF5GGSLRBV4ZA (accessed 1 October 2024).
- Correddu, F., M. F. Lunesu, G. Buffa, A. S. Atzori, A. Nudda, G. Battacone, and G. Pulina. 2020. Can agro-industrial by-products rich in polyphenols be advantageously used in the feeding and nutrition of dairy small ruminants? Anim. 10(1):131. doi:10.3390/ani1001013.
- Cowan, J. R. 1956. Tall fescue. Advances in agronomy 8:283-320. doi:10.1016/S0065-2113(08)60692-6.

- Crews, T. E., and M. Peoples. 2004. Legume versus fertilizer sources of nitrogen: ecological tradeoffs and human needs. Agric. Eco.Environ. 102(3):279-297. doi:10.1016/j.agee.2003.09.018.
- DelCurto, T., B. Hess, J. Huston, and K. Olson. 2000. Optimum supplementation strategies for beef cattle consuming low-quality roughages. J. Anim. Sci 77:1-16. 0021-8812 <u>https://doi.researchgate.net/profile/Timothy-</u>

Delcurto/publication/228647482_Optimum_supplementation_strategies_for_beef __cattle_consuming_lowquality_roughages_in_the_western_United_States/links/Of cfd50d1f3c0daaa9000000/Optimum-supplementation-strategies-for-beef-cattleconsuming-low-quality-roughages-in-the-western-United-States.pdf (accessed 1 October 2024).

- Delgado, J.A., D'Adamo, R.E., Villacis, A.H., Halvorson, A.D., Stewart, C.E., Floyd, B.A., Del Grosso, S.J., Manter, D.K. and Alwang, J., 2024. Long-term effects of nitrogen and tillage on yields and nitrogen use efficiency in irrigated corn. Agron. 14(10):2304. doi:10.3390/agronomy14102304.
- Devendra, C., and R. A. Leng. 2011. Feed resources for animals in Asia: issues, strategies for use, intensification and integration for increased productivity. Asian-Australasian J. Anim. Sci. 24(3):303-321. doi:10.5713/ajas.2011.r.05.
- Diaz, J. M., M. S. Gadberry, P. A. Beck, J. T. Richeson, G. D. Hufstedler, D. S. Hubbell III, J. D. Tucker, T. Hess, and K. G. Pohler. 2018. Performance-enhancing technologies for steers grazing tall fescue pastures with varying levels of toxicity. J. Anim. Sci. 96(9):3712-3727. doi:10.1093/jas/sky244.

- Dillard, S. L. 2013. Effects on nitrogen fertilization on phosphorus uptake and movement among forage, soil and water in a year-round pasture system. Dissertation, Auburn University, Auburn, AL, USA. 30264610.
- Dillard, S. L., Wood, C. L., Wood, B. H., Feng, Y., Owsley, W. F., and R. B. Muntifering. 2015a. Effects of nitrogen fertilization on soil nutrient concentration and phosphatase activity and forage nutrient uptake from a grazed pasture system. J. Environ. Manag. 154:208- 215. doi:10.1016/j.jenvman.2015.02.035.
- Dillard, S. L., Wood, C. L., Wood, B. H., Feng, Y., Owsley, W. F., and R. B. Muntifering..
 2015b. Nitrogen fertilization impacts on phosphorus cycling in grazed grasslegume pasture. Agric. Sci. 6:1115-1127. doi:10.4236/as.2015.69107.
- Drew, M., P. Nye, and L. Vaidyanathan. 1969. The supply of nutrient ions by diffusion to plant roots in soil: I. Absorption of potassium by cylindrical roots of onion and leek. Plant and Soil. 30:252-270. doi:10.1007/BF01349514.
- Drewnoski, M.E., Oliphant, E.J., Poore, M. H., Green, J.T. and Hockett, M.E., 2009. Growth and reproductive performance of beef heifers grazing endophyte-free, endophyte-infected and novel endophyte-infected tall fescue. Livest. Sci. 125(2-3).254-260. doi:10.1016/j.livsci.2009.05.003.
- Dubeux Jr, J., L. Sollenberger, B. Mathews, J. Scholberg, and H. Q. Santos. 2007. Nutrient cycling in warm-climate grasslands. Crop Sci. 47(3):915-928. doi:10.2135/cropsci2006.09.0581.
- Dubeux Jr, J. C. B., L. E. Sollenberger, J. P. Muir, L. O. Tedeschi, M. V. dos Santos, M.V. da Cunha, A. C. de Mello, and N. DiLorenzo. 2017. Sustainable intensification of livestock production on pastures. Prod.Anim. 25(3-4). 2075-8359.

- Duble, R. L. 1996. Turfgrasses: Their management and use in the southern zone. Texas A&M University Press. (accessed 1 October 2024).
- Eastridge, M. 2006. Major advances in applied dairy cattle nutrition. J. Dairy Sci. 89(4):1311-1323. doi:10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(06)72199-3.
- Empel, M. J., P. Makkar, J. Dijkstra, and P. Lund. 2016. Nutritional, technological and managerial parameters for precision feeding to enhance feed nutrient utilization and productivity in different dairy cattle production systems. CABI Rev.1-27. doi:10.1079/PAVSNNR201611037.
- Erickson, P., J. Anderson, K. Kalscheur, G. Lascano, M. Akins, and A. Heinrichs. 2020. Symposium review: Strategies to improve the efficiency and profitability of heifer raising. J. Dairy Sci. 103(6):5700-5708. doi:10.3168/jds.2019-17419.
- ERS. 2022. Cow-calf production costs and returns, per cow. In: J. Gillespie (ed.). Economic Research Service, United States Department of Agriculture, Washington, DC, USA.
- Etesami, H., S. Emami, and A. Alikhani. 2017. Potassium solubilizing bacteria (KSB):
 Mechanisms, promotion of plant growth, and future prospects A review. J. Soil Sci.
 Plant Nutri.17(4):897-911. doi:10.4067/S0718-95162017000400005.
- Fageria, N. K., and A. Moreira. 2011. The role of mineral nutrition on root growth of crop plants. Adv. Agron.110:251-331.doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-385531-2.00004-9.
- Fernandes, M. S., and R. O. P. Rossiello. 1995. Mineral nitrogen in plant physiology and plant nutrition. Critical reviews in plant sciences 14(2):111-148. doi:10.1080/07352689509701924.

Fernández, F. G., and R. G. Hoeft. 2009. Managing soil pH and crop nutrients. Illinois agronomy handbook 24:91-112. https://d1wqtxts1xzle7.cloudfront.net/85086233/chapter08libre.pdf?1651113780=&response-contentdisposition=inline%3B+filename%3DManaging_Soil_pH_and_Crop_Nutrients.p df&Expires=1732309310&Signature=QdzJDi5MfVNfifSss7CNJsGaJKmXJD9hp ZlsDqcvT0nxR8xqyZ9cHsi5fBsveIvngtMFdTrJXLL3~x64n4C3-Mp~4nQlCh0z7ln37halAwDa4Yp9i7bLF5eDU3GJxJWvFqFIOQeXvfPEAwh1VFyIbT0sHiZ8O7xZ3aUXT-9ub9Rmf~6lYaP3jWM33wLKUoySr8LwewT4W-8ty4DJ5jpXU4Xh7LTiLWII8Q2c-GaFkoncXQmFjWpt~zcSs~jKborpEgI18AVq6wWKhJH4bmgVlTvbDzmFeRjtU PfRj2HwhoEfYz~MvVvtG934xTfVoz4AkBffepzMSN5-p34HO7CTA_&Key-Pair-Id=APKAJLOHF5GGSLRBV4ZA (accessed 1 October 2024).

- Flack, S. 2016. The art and science of grazing: how grass farmers can create sustainable systems for healthy animals and farm ecosystems. Chelsea Green Publishing. (accessed 1 October 2024).
- Fransen, B., Kroon de. H., and F. Berendse. 1998. Root morphological plasticity and nutrient acquisition of perennial grass species from habitats of different nutrient availability. 115:351-358. doi:10.1007/s004420050527.
- Gao, Y. Z., S. P. Wang, X. G. Han, Q. S. Chen, Q. F. Wang, Z. Y. Zhou, S. M. Zhang, and J. Yang. 2004. Soil nitrogen regime and the relationship between aboveground green phytobiomass and soil nitrogen fractions at different stocking rates in the

Xilin river basin, Inner Mongolia. Chinese J. Plant Ecol. 28(3):285. doi: 10.17521/cjpe.2004.0042.

- Gardner, E., T. Jackson, T. Doerge, D. Hannaway, and W. McGuire. Red clover. <u>https://extension.oregonstate.edu/catalog/pub/fg17?reference=catalog</u> (accessed 1 October 2024).
- Gashaw, M., and G. Defar. 2017. Livestock feed resources, nutritional value and their implication on animal productivity in mixed farming system in Gasera and Ginnir Districts, Bale Zone, Ethiopia. Intern. J. of Livest. Prod. 8(2):12-23. doi:10.5897/IJLP2016.0297.
- Gaudin, A. C., K. Janovicek, R. C. Martin, and H. Deen. 2014. Approaches to optimizing nitrogen fertilization in a winter wheat-red clover (Trifolium pratense L.) relay cropping system. Field Crops Research. 155:192-201. doi:10.1016/j.fcr.2013.09.005.
- Gerber, P. J., A. Mottet, C. I. Opio, A. Falcucci, and F. Teillard. 2015. Environmental impacts of beef production: Review of challenges and perspectives for durability. Meat Sci. 109:2-12. doi:10.1016/j.meatsci.2015.05.013.
- Gomez, E. B. R. 2023. Evaluation of the effects of endophyte-infected tall fescue consumption on the pulmonary arterial pressure of beef cattle. North Carolina State University. 30673807. (accessed 1 October 2024).
- Goering, H. K., and P. J. Van Soest. 1970. Forage fiber analysis (apparatus, reagents, procedures and some applications). Agri. Handb. 379. United States Department of Agriculture, Washington, DC, USA. (accessed 1 October 2024).

- Gomez, J. M. D. 2019. Methods to Evaluate Ruminant Animal Production Responses. University of Arkansas. 27670260
- Goulding, K., S. Jarvis, and A. Whitmore. 2008. Optimizing nutrient management for farm systems. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biol. Sci. 363(1491):667-680. doi:10.1098/rstb.2007.2177.
- Good, K. 2022. Fertilizer prices, higher still- producers world-wide adjust; U.S. faces railway issues. Farm Policy News.
- Grace, C., Boland, T. M. Sheridan, H., Lott, S., Brennan, E., Fritch, R. and Lynch, M. B. 2018. The effect of increasing pasture species on herbage production, chemical composition and utilization under intensive sheep grazing. Grass and Forage Sci. 73(4):852-864. doi:10.1111/gfs.12379.
- Greenwood, P. L. 2021. An overview of beef production from pasture and feedlot globally, as demand for beef and the need for sustainable practices increase. Anim.15:100295. doi:10.1016/j.animal.2021.100295.
- Grant, C.A., Flaten, D.N., Tomasiewicz, D.J. and Sheppard, S.C., 2001. The importance of early season phosphorus nutrition. Canadian J. Plant Sci., 81(2):211-224. doi:10.4141/P00-093.
- Grzebisz, W., Gransee, A., Szczepaniak, W., and J. Diatta. 2013. The effects of potassium fertilization on water-use efficiency in crop plants. J.Plant Nutri.Soil Sci. 176(3):355-374. doi:10.1002/jpln.201200287.
- Gunter, P. A., M. K. Mullenix, L. C. Burdette, and R. B. Muntifering. 2021. Evaluation of nitrogen-delivery methods for stocker cattle grazing annual ryegrass. Transl. Anim. Sci. 5(2). doi:10.1093/tas/txab048.

- Guyader, J., Janzen, H. H., Kroebel, R. and K. Beauchemin. 2016. Forage use to improve environmental sustainability of ruminant production. J. Anim. Sci. 94(8):3147-3158. doi:10.2527/jas.2015-0141.
- Hales, K., S. Shackelford, J. Wells, D. King, M. Hayes, T. Brown-Brandl, L. Kuehn, Freetly, and T. Wheeler. 2014. Effects of feeding dry-rolled corn-based diets with and without wet distillers grains with solubles and zilpaterol hydrochloride on performance, carcass characteristics, and heat stress in finishing beef steers. J. Anim. Sci. 92(9):4023-4033. doi:10.2527/jas.2014-7638.
- Hall, M. B. 2009. Determination of starch, including maltooligosaccharides, in animal feeds: Comparison of methods and a method recommended for aoac collaborative study. J. AOAC Intl. 92:42-49. doi:10.1093/jaoac/92.1.42.
- Hall, J. B., Seay, and S. M. Baker. 2001. Nutrition and feeding of the cow-calf herd: essential nutrients, feed classification and nutrient content of feeds. <u>https://vtechworks.lib.vt.edu/server/api/core/bitstreams/2cb4b01a-496a-443a-</u> b172-f7cfc0acf09a/content (accessed 1 October 2024).
- Hampel, F. A., and T. C. Schroeder. 1998. Risk and expected returns in cattle feeding. doi. 10.22004/ag.econ.285722.
- Hancock, J. D., and K. C. Behnke. 2000. Use of ingredient and diet processing technologies (grinding, mixing, pelleting, and extruding) to produce quality feeds for pigs, Swine nutrition. CRC Press. 489-518.
- Hänninen, V. 2013. Budgeting at a crossroads-The viability of traditional budgeting-A case study. <u>https://urn.fi/URN:NBN:fi:aalto-201304041869</u> (accessed 1 October 2024).

Harrison, J. A. 2010. The Nitrogen Cycle. Visionlearning. <u>https://transpacmarine.com/static/pdf/research/ag-</u> chemistry/NitrogenCycle.pdf.(accessed 1 October 2024).

Hayatsu, M., K. Tago, and M. Saito. 2008. Various players in the nitrogen cycle: diversity and functions of the microorganisms involved in nitrification and denitrification. Soil Sci. Plant Nutri.54(1):33-45. doi:10.1111/j.1747-0765.2007.00195.x.

- Hazra, C. 2014. Feed and forage resources for sustainable livestock development. Range Manage. Agrofor. 35(1):1-14.
- Heinrichs, A. J. 1996. Nutrition and management of replacement cattle. Anim. Feed Sci. Tech. 59(1-3):155-166. doi:10.1016/0377-8401(95)00896-9.
- Held, D.W. and Potter, D.A., 2012. Prospects for managing turfgrass pests with reduced chemical inputs. Ann. Rev. Entom. 57(1):329-354.doi:10.1146/annurev-ento-120710-100542.
- Hemken, R., J. Jackson Jr, and J. Boling. 1984. Toxic factors in tall fescue. J. Anim. Sci. 58(4):1011-1016. doi:10.2527/jas1984.5841011x.
- Hernández, J., J. L. Benedito, A. Abuelo, and C. Castillo. 2014. Ruminal acidosis in feedlot: from aetiology to prevention. Sci. World J.1:702572.doi:10.1155/2014/702572.
- Hilimire, K. 2011. Integrated crop/livestock Agric. in the United States. Rev. J. Sustain. Agric. 35(4):376-393. doi.org/10.1080/10440046.2011.562042.
- Hill, S. 2015. Exploring producer perceptions for cattle price and animal performance in the stocker industry, Kansas State University. <u>http://hdl.handle.net/2097/19780</u> (accessed 1 October 2024).

- Hills, J. L., W. J. Wales, F. R. Dunshea, S. C. Garcia, and J. R. Roche. 2015. Invited review: An evaluation of the likely effects of individualized feeding of concentrate supplements to pasture-based dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 98(3):1363-1401. doi:10.3168/jds.2014-8475.
- Hines, A. R. 2021. Nutrient cycling from steers supplemented with dried distillers grains with solubles. Thesis, Tarleton State University, Stephenville, TX, USA. 28645197.
- Horn, B. E., Hart, C. R. and S. Paisley. 2003. Management of rangeland livestock under drought. Annals of Arid Zone 41(1):1-23.
- Horn, G., and F. McCollum. 1987. Energy supplementation of grazing ruminants. In: Grazing livestock nutrition conference.125-136.
- Horn, G., and F. McCollum. 1987. Proceedings of the Grazing Livestock Nutrition Conference.
- Houde, S., M. N. Thivierge, F. Fort, G. Bélanger, M. Chantigny, D. A. Angers, and A. Vanasse. 2020. Root growth and turnover in perennial forages as affected by management systems and soil depth. Plant and Soil.451:371-387. doi:10.1007/s11104-020-04532-1.
- Huston, J. E., F. M. Rouquette Jr, W. C. Ellis, C. Lippke, and T. D. A. Forbes. 2002. Supplementation of grazing beef cattle. Tex. Agric. Exp. Stn. Tech. Monog. 12.
- Hoveland, C. S. 2000. Achievements in management and utilization of southern grasslands. Rangel. Ecol. Manage. J. Range Manage. Arch. 53(1):17-22.

- Huang, B., and H. Gao. 2000. Root physiological characteristics associated with drought resistance in tall fescue cultivars. Crop Sci. 40(1):196-203. doi:10.2135/cropsci2000.401196x.
- Ingram, S. 2019. Renovation strategies for toxic endophyte-infected tall fescue for profitability, animal and agronomic performance, and soil health. North Carolina State University. 27528215.
- Interrante, S. M., J. T. Biermacher, M. K. Kering, and T. J. Butler. 2012. Production and economics of steers grazing tall fescue with annual legumes or fertilized with nitrogen. Crop Sci. 52(4):1940-1948. doi:10.2135/cropsci2011.11.0610.
- Ipharraguerre, I., and J. Clark. 2003. Soyhulls as an alternative feed for lactating dairy cows: a review. J. of Dairy Sci. 86(4):1052-1073. doi:10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(03)73689-3.
- Isleib, J. 2016. Soil calcium-to-magnesium ratios should not concern most farmers. Michigan State University Extension. <u>https://doi.canr.msu.edu/news/soil_calcium_to_magnesium_ratios_should_not_co</u> <u>ncern_most_farmers</u> (accessed 1 October 2024).
- Jacobs, J. L. 2021. Cotton byproducts assessment for improving beef cattle feeding recommendations. Thesis, Auburn University, Auburn, AL, USA. 29288943.

Johnson, M. Z. 2022. Should I fertilize my bermudagrass pasture this year? Drovers. Farm J., Inc., Lenexa, KS, USA. https://aurora.auburn.edu/xmlui/bitstream/handle/11200/50632/Alabama_Livestoc k_2nd_Ed.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=doi#page=45 (accessed 1 October 2024).

- Jung, H. G.1989. Forage lignins and their effects on fiber digestibility. Agron. J. 81(1):33-38. doi:10.2134/agronj1989.00021962008100010006x.
- Justice, S. M., K. Mullenix, S. L. Dillard, S. P. Rodning, M. Chamorro, A. Tigue, B. B. Smith, P. Zessin, M. L. Boone, and M. Henson. 2023. 406 Awardee Talk: Extended effects of sequential weaning and backgrounding management in southeastern US beef calves on performance, health, and immunological responses through the feedyard. J. Anim. Sci. 101(Supp._3):79-80. doi:10.1093/jas/skad281.096.
- Kanapeckas, J., Lemežienė, N., Butkutė, B. and Stukonis, V., 2011. Evaluation of tall fescue (Festuca arundinacea Schreb.) varieties and wild ecotypes as feedstock for biogas production. UDK: 633.246:631.526.2/.32:581.192.7.
- Kayser, M., and J. Isselstein. 2005. Potassium cycling and losses in grassland systems: A review. Grass Forage Sci. 60(3):213-224. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2494.2005.00478.x.
- Kellaway, R., and T. Harrington. 2004. Feeding concentrates: supplements for dairy cows. Landlinks press.
- Kenward, M.G. and Roger, J.W., 2009. An improved approximation to the precision of fixed effects from restricted maximum likelihood. Comput.Statis. Data Anal. 53(7):2583-2595. doi:10.1016/j.csda.2008.12.013.
- Kerrisk, J., and N. Thomson. 1990. Effect of intensity and frequency of defoliation on growth of ryegrass, tall fescue and phalaris. In: Proceedings of the New Zealand Grassland Association. p 135-138.
 https://doi.grassland.org.nz/publications/nzgrassland_publication_985.pdf (accessed 1 October 2024).

Killham, K. 1994. The ecology of soil nutrient cycling. Soil Ecol.89-140.

- Kopparapu, N. K., Y. Duan, L. Huang, and P. Katrolia. 2022. Review on utilisation of corn gluten meal, a by-product from corn starch industry for production of value-added products. Intern. J. Food Sci. Tech. 57(9):5592-5599. doi:10.1111/ijfs.15541.
- Krawutschke, M., J. Kleen, N. Weiher, R. Loges, F. Taube, and M. Gierus. 2013. Changes in crude protein fractions of forage legumes during the spring growth and summer regrowth period. J. of Agric. Sci. 151(1):72-90. doi:10.1017/S002185961200024X.
- Kunkle, W.F., and D. Bates. 1998. Evaluating feed purchasing options: energy, protein, and mineral supplements. Florida Beef Cattle Short Course.59-70. <u>https://animal.ifas.ufl.edu/beef_extension/bcsc/1998/pdf/kunkle.pdf</u> (accessed 1 October 2024).
- Kunkle,W.F., J. Johns, M. Poore, and D. Herd. 2000. Designing supplementation programs for beef cattle fed forage-based diets. J. Anim. Sci 77(1):1-11. <u>https://doi.researchgate.net/profile/Matthew-Poore</u>

2/publication/228718692 Designing supplementation programs for beef cattle _fed_forage-based_diets/links/00b7d525fe05722918000000/Designingsupplementation-programs-for-beef-cattle-fed-forage-based-diets.pdf (accessed 1

October 2024).

Kunkle, W.E., R. Stewart, and W.F Brown. 1995. Using byproduct feeds in supplementation programs. University of Florida-Department of Anim. Sciences: <u>http://doi</u>. animal. ufl. edu/short95/kunkle. pdf (accessed 1 October 2024).

Kutish, L. J. 1950. The Marketing of Feed Molasses. US Department of Agric..

- Lambert, M., D. Clark, and A. Litherland. 2004. Advances in pasture management for animal productivity and health. New Zealand Vet. J. 52(6):311-319. doi:10.1080/00480169.2004.36447.
- Lardy, G., and R. Waterman. 2020. Grazing Animal Nutrition. Forages: Sci. Grassland Agric. 2:815-826. doi:10.1002/9781119436669.ch45.
- LaRue, T. A., and T. G. Patterson. 1981. How much nitrogen do legumes fix?. Adv. Agron. 34:15-38. doi:10.1016/S0065-2113(08)60883-4.
- Laycock, A., 1982. Seeding and fertilizing to improve high-elevation rangelands. US Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Intermountain Forest and Range Experiment Station.120. Input prices dictate pasture management decisions by livestock operators. https://agrilifetoday.tamu.edu/2022/03/24/input-pricesdictate-pasture-managementdecisions-by-livestock-operators/ (accessed 1 October 2024).
- Lavery, A., and Ferris, C. P. (2021). Proxy measures and novel strategies for estimating nitrogen utilisation efficiency in dairy cattle. Anim. 11(2):343.
- Lee, M. A. 2018. A global comparison of the nutritive values of forage plants grown in contrasting environments. J. Plant Res.131(4):641-654. doi:10.1007/s10265-018-1024-doi.
- Leng, R. 1990. Factors affecting the utilization of 'poor-quality' forages by ruminants particularly under tropical conditions. Nutri. Res. Rev. 3(1):277-303. doi:10.1079/NRR19900016.

- Lin, Z., X. Pu, and W. Du. 2024. The effect of powdery mildew on the cell structure and cell wall composition of red clover. European J. Plant Path.1-12. doi:10.1007/s10658-024-02970-6.
- Linn, J., V. Oraskovich, and M. Hutjens. 1993. Purchasing and Feeding Alternative Feeds. <u>https://conservancy.umn.edu/bitstream/handle/11299/118742/1/Linn.pdf</u> (accessed 1 October 2024).
- Liu, B., and P. J. Landschoot. 2018. Influence of phosphorus in starter fertilizer on the establishment of tall fescue. Hort. Sci. 53(12):1897-1906. doi:10.21273/HORTSCI13416-18.
- Liu, K., and K. A. Rosentrater. 2016. Distillers grains: Production, properties, and utilization. CRC press.
- Löest, C., E. Titgemeyer, J. Drouillard, D. Blasi, and D. Bindel. 2001. Soybean hulls as a primary ingredient in forage-free diets for limit-fed growing cattle. J. Anim. Sci. 79(3):766-774 doi:10.2527/2001.793766x.
- López, A., J. I. Arroquy, O. Hernández, J. A. Nasca, A. V. Juárez Sequeira, N. DiLorenzo, and R. A. Distel. 2021. A meta-analytical evaluation of the effects of high-salt water intake on beef cattle. J. Anim. Sci. 99(8). doi:10.1093/jas/skab215.
- Louarn, G., E. Pereira-Lopès, J. Fustec, B. Mary, A.-S. Voisin, P. C. de Faccio Carvalho, and F. Gastal. 2015. The amounts and dynamics of nitrogen transfer to grasses differ in alfalfa and white clover-based grass-legume mixtures as a result of rooting strategies and rhizodeposit quality. Plant and Soil. 389:289-305. doi:10.1007/s11104-014-2354-8.

- Lourenco, J. M., C. B. Welch, T. R. Krause, M. A. Wieczorek, F. L. Fluharty, M. J. Rothrock, T. D. Pringle, and T. R. Callaway. 2022. Fecal microbiome differences in Angus steers with differing feed efficiencies during the feedlot-finishing phase. Micro.10(6):1128. doi:10.3390/microorganisms10061128.
- Loy, D., and E. Lundy. 2019. Nutritional properties and feeding value of corn and its coproducts, Corn. Elsev. 633-659. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-811971-6.00023-1.
- Lu, A., Y. Li, C. Wang, and H. Ding. 2023. Introduction to environmental mineralogy. Springer. doi: 10.1007/978-981-19-7792-3.
- Lusas, E. W. 2004. Soybean processing and utilization. Soybeans: improvement, production, and uses.16:949-1045. doi:10.2134/agronmonogr16.3ed.c20.
- Machado, W. S., V. L. Brandao, V. C. Morais, E. Detmann, P. P. Rotta, and M. I. Marcondes. 2019. Supplementation strategies affect the feed intake and performance of grazing replacement heifers. PLoS One. 14(9). <u>doi:10.1371/j.pone.0221651</u>.
- Madden, J. P. 1967. Economies of size in farming. Washington, DC. https://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=vkEeAAAAMAAJ&oi=fnd&pg =PA3747&dq=Madden,+J.+P.+1967.+Economies+of+size+in+farming.+Washin gton,+DC&ots=61pCMjh0QM&sig=CWgY6B2tnx8GI2v3Esrew8aNuPw#v=one page&q&f=false (accessed 1 October 2024).
- Makkar, P. 2016. Smart livestock feeding strategies for harvesting triple gain-the desired outcomes in planet, people and profit dimensions: a developing country perspective. Anim. Prod. Sci. 56(3):519-534.

- Manevski, K., and U. Jørgensen. 2022. Agro-physiology of grasses and legumes destined for biorefining of protein–effects of defoliation and fertilization regimes. In: The XXI International Nitrogen Workshop. Halving nitrogen waste by 2030. 270. 978-84-122114-6-7.
- Marn, M.V. and Rosiello, R.L., 1992. Managing price, gaining profit. McKinsey Quarterly.1818.https://d1wqtxts1xzle7.cloudfront.net/32311417/1._Managing_Pri ce_Gaining_Profits_%282%29.pdf20131114-31590-16u3m1k-librelibre.pdf?1384409510=&responsecontentdisposition=inline%3B+filename%3DTr ansaction_prices_represent_one_ofthe_m.pdf&Expires=1732320625&Signature= drK6Q~EJgPAfCqZNgZpMpUemyqrLHCprzYm9XB72zGWZtqwrXCx03xIA6h wDw1VvNeGFeu3Qw7L7~Bjmz97DJhzseKwCI7du84dVq0~dv2ZhQzcrBoCfpS 4FjUb8oHRYVOz\lt73LrWk4Ia1PE6wkzgpw62V~lDGnTo479HXTMQONEUN 9CfxkJSTwt41DUXKoQQHDGEPoyO135HsE2n58j6nQfDaKj~Po6oBsGzL8sm 8wzjcz9T3MXOTJP75~tfcSEMn72iBDI1~UxQmawXFVTWfFqoeZwa~ZOibC OmbmeTSs9HV1wxYydSr3pZImkoinU4IMvLHdDiXfkMYKAiwA_&Key-Pair-Id=APKAJLOHF5GGSLRBV4ZA(accessed 1 October 2024).
- Marten, G., D. Buxton, and R. Barnes. 1988. Feeding value (forage quality). Alfalfa and alfalfa improvement 29:463-491. doi:10.2134/agronmonogr29.c14.
- Mccollum III, F., and G. Horn. 1990. Protein supplementation of grazing livestock: A review. Prof. Anim. Sci. 6(2):1-16. doi:10.15232/S1080-7446(15)32251-8.
- McConnell, C. A., J. P. Kaye, and A. R. Kemanian. 2020. Reviews and syntheses: Ironing out wrinkles in the soil phosphorus cycling paradigm. Bio. Geo. Sci. 17(21):5309-5333. doi:10.5194/bg-17-5309-2020.

- McDowell, L., and G. Valle. 2000. Major minerals in forages. https://doi.cabidigitallibrary.org/doi/pdf/10.1079/9780851993447.0373 (accessed 1 October 2024).
- McGovern, S. T., C. D. Evans, P. Dennis, C. A. Walmsley, A. Turner, and M. A. McDonald. 2014. Increased inorganic nitrogen leaching from a mountain grassland ecosystem following grazing removal: a hangover of past intensive land-use? Bio. Chem. 119:125-138. doi:10.1007/s10533-014-9952-7.
- McKenna, P., N. Cannon, J. Conway, and J. Dooley. 2018. The use of red clover (Trifolium pratense) in soil fertility-building: A Review. Field Crops Res. 221:38-49. doi:10.1016/j.fcr.2018.02.006.
- McLennan, S. R. 2004. More effective supplements for the northern beef industry. <u>https://doi.mla.com.au/contentassets/384623b2f2c246019870b7760f8a54fa/nap3.</u> <u>122_final_report.pdf</u> (accessed 1 October 2024)
- McNeill, K. R. 2020. Effects of Forage Allowance and Supplementation on Performance of Steers Grazing Winter Wheat Pasture, Oklahoma State University. 28030442.
- Molla, T., and P. Tana. 2019. Effects Of Seed and Nitrogen Fertilizer Rates On Yield Related Traits, Yield And Grain Protein Content Of Bread Wheat (Triticum Aestivum L.) In West Badewacho District, Southern Ethiopia, Haramaya university. doi: 10.1016/j.dib.2024.110308.
- Moot, D., A. Black, E. M. Lyons, L. M. Egan, and R. W. Hofmann. 2021. Pasture resilience reflects differences in root and shoot responses to defoliation, and water and nitrogen deficits. doi:10.33584/rps.17.2021.3472.

- Mousavi, S. R. 2011. Zinc in crop production and interaction with phosphorus. Australian J. Basc. Appl. Sci. 5(9):1503-1509. 1991-8178.
- Mullenix, K., and L. Dillard. 2018. Interpreting a forage analysis for beef cattle. Alabama Cooperative Extension Service. https://doi.aces.edu/blog/topics/beef/interpretinga-forage-analysis-for-beef-cattle/ (accessed 1 October 2024).
- Mulliniks, J., A. Rius, M. Edwards, S. Edwards, J. Hobbs, and R. Nave. 2015. Forages And Pastures Symposium: Improving efficiency of production in pasture-and rangebased beef and dairy systems. J. Anim. Sci. 93(6):2609-2615. doi:10.2527/jas.2014-8595.
- Mulugeta, S. 2019. Effect of Time and Rate of Nitrogen Fertilizer Application on Growth and Yield Components of Bread Wheat (Triticum Aestivum L.) In Burie District, West Gojjam Zone, Northwestern Ethiopia.
- Murray, A. R. 2024. Supplementation Strategies for Growing and Finishing Beef Cattle on Tall Fescue Pastures in the Southeast. <u>https://hdl.handle.net/10919/118422</u> (accessed 1 October 2024).
- NASEM. 2016. Nutrient requirements of beef cattle. National Academies Press (US).
- NASEM. 2021. Nutrient Requirements of Dairy Cattle: Eighth Revised Edition. National Academies Press (US).
- NASS. 2022. Cattle (January 2022). In: S. Meyer and J. L. Parsons (eds.). National Agricultural Statistics Service, United States Department of Agriculture, Washington, DC.
- Neina, D. 2019. The role of soil pH in plant nutrition and soil remediation. Appl. Environ. Soil Sci. 1:5794869. doi:10.1155/2019/5794869.

- Nelson, C., and L. E. Moser. 1994. Plant factors affecting forage quality. Forage quality, evaluation, and utilization:115-154. doi:10.2134/1994.foragequality.c3.
- Nelson, C. J., D. D. Redfearn, and J. W. Cherney. 2012. Forage harvest management. Conservation outcomes from pastureland and Hayland practices: Assessment, recommendations, and knowledge gaps:205-256.doi:10.1002/9781119436669.ch20.
- Niederecker, K. N., J. M. Larson, R. L. Kallenbach, and A. M. Meyer. 2018. Effects of feeding stockpiled tall fescue versus summer-baled tall fescue-based hay to late gestation beef cows: I. Cow performance, maternal metabolic status, and fetal growth. J. Anim. Sci. 96(11):4618-4632. doi:10.1093/jas/sky341.
- Nkoa, R. 2014. Agricultural benefits and environmental risks of soil fertilization with anaerobic digestates: a review. Agron. Sustain. Devel. 34:473-492. doi:10.1007/s13593-013-0196-z.
- O'Connor, K. 2009. The effects of fertilizer application method on species composition of a putting green, University of Guelph.
- Ochieng, J., Kirimi, L., Ochieng, D.O. et al. Managing climate risk through crop diversification in rural Kenya.162:1107–1125. <u>doi:10.1007/s10584-020-02727-0</u>.
- Odoi, F. N. A. 1985. Nutritional value of mixed diets in cattle, Lincoln College, University of Canterbury. <u>https://hdl.handle.net/10182/3189</u> (accessed 1 October 2024).
- Ortel, C., T. Roberts, and J. Rupe. 2024. A review of the interaction between potassium nutrition and plant disease control. Agrosys.Geo. Sci. Environ. 7(2).doi:10.1002/agg2.20489.

- Osman, K. T., and K. T. Osman. 2013. Plant nutrients and soil fertility management. Soils: Principles, properties and management:129-159. doi:10.1007/978-94-007-5663-2_10.
- Owens, F. N., and M. Basalan. 2016. Ruminal fermentation. Rumeno. 63-102. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-30533-2_3.
- PA Silva, H., B. C. Borba, V. A. Pereira, M. G. Reis, M. Caliari, M. S.-L. Brooks, and T. A. Ferreira. 2019. Characterization of tomato processing by-product for use as a potential functional food ingredient: nutritional composition, antioxidant activity and bioactive compounds. Intern. J. Food Sci. Nutri. 70(2):150-160. doi:10.1080/09637486.2018.1489530
- Pandey, R. 2015. Mineral nutrition of plants. Plant Biology and Biotechnology: Volume I:
 Plant Diversity, Organization, Function and Improvement:499-538.
 doi:10.1007/978-81-322-2286-6_20.
- Paterson, J., R. Belyea, J. Bowman, M. Kerley, and J. Williams. 1994. The impact of forage quality and supplementation regimen on ruminant animal intake and performance.
 Forage quality, evaluation, and utilization: 59-114. doi:10.2134/1994.foragequality.c2.
- Plascencia, A., and R. Zinn. 1996. Influence of flake density on the feeding value of steamprocessed corn in diets for lactating cows. J. Anim. Sci. 74(2):310-316. doi:10.2527/1996.742310x.
- Ponnampalam, E.N. and Holman, B. 2023. Sustainability II: Sustainable animal production and meat processing. Lawrie's Meat Sci. 727-798. doi:10.1016/B978-0-323-85408-5.00001-7.

- Poore, M. H. 2022. Invited Review: Use of byproduct feeds in southeastern US beef production systems. Appl. Anim. Sci. 38(5):441-446. doi:10.15232/aas.2022-02307.
- Poore, M. H., J. T. Johns, and R. Burris. 2002. Soybean hulls, wheat middlings, and corn gluten feed as supplements for cattle on forage-based diets. Veterinary Clinics: Food Anim. Practice 18(2):213-231.
- Popp, J., M. Harangi-Rákos, Z. Gabnai, P. Balogh, G. Antal, and A. Bai. 2016. Biofuels and their co-products as livestock feed: global economic and environmental implications. Molec. 21(3): doi:10.3390/molecules21030285.
- Prasad, R. 2019. Phosphorus basics Understanding Phosphorus forms and their cycling in the soil. <u>https://doi.aces.edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/ANR-2535-Phosphorus-</u> Basics_041719L.pdf (accessed 1 October 2024).
- Quinn, J.D., Singh, S., Quinn, J., Kern, J., Cuppari, R. and Characklis, G., 2024. Exploring the benefits of integrated energy-water management in reducing economic and environmental tradeoffs. doi: 10.22541/essoar.172253132.22676038/v1.
- Ramsbottom, G., B. Horan, D. Berry, and J. R. Roche. 2015. Factors associated with the financial performance of spring-calving, pasture-based dairy farms. J. Dairy Sci. 98(5):3526-3540. doi:10.3168/jds.2014-8516.
- Rao, I. M., M. Peters, A. Castro, R. Schultze-Kraft, D. White, M. Fisher, J. W. Miles, C.
 E. Lascano Aguilar, M. Blümmel, and D. Bungenstab. 2015. LivestockPlus: The sustainable intensification of forage-based agricultural systems to improve livelihoods and ecosystem services in the tropics.

https://cgspace.cgiar.org/server/api/core/bitstreams/186fbb43-798c-424b-8c2d-597d19a76722/content (accessed 1 October 2024).

- Rawat, J., N. Pandey, and J. Saxena. 2022. Role of potassium in plant photosynthesis, transport, growth and yield. Role of potassium in abiotic stress:1-14. doi:10.1007/978-981-16-4461-0_1.
- Rawat, J., P. Sanwal, and J. Saxena. 2016. Potassium and its role in sustainable agriculture, Potassium solubilizing microorganisms for sustainable agriculture. Springer. 235-253. doi:10.1007/978-981-16-4461-0_1.
- Rearte, D., and G. Pieroni. 2001. Supplementation of temperate pastures. https://uknowledge.uky.edu/igc/19/19/25 (accessed 1 October 2024).
- Reed, K. 2016. Fertility of herbivores consuming phytoestrogen-containing Medicago and Trifolium species. Agric. 6(3):35. doi:10.3390/agriculture6030035.
- Rinehart, L. 2006. Pasture, rangeland and grazing management. National Sustainable Agricultural Information Service. ATTRA Publication# IP306 <u>https://rangemanagement.extension.colostate.edu/wp-</u>

content/uploads/sites/42/2020/07/Pasture_Range_Grazing_Management.pdf

(accessed 1 October 2024).

- Robertson, G. P., and P. Groffman. 2024. Nitrogen transformations, Soil microbiology, ecology and biochemistry. Elsev. 407-438. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-822941-5.00014-4.
- Robertson, G. P., and P. M. Vitousek. 2009. Nitrogen in agriculture: balancing the cost of an essential resource. Ann. Rev. Environ. Resourc. 34(1):97-125. doi:10.1146/annurev.environ.032108.105046.

- Robertson, W. K. 1947. A chemical study of some of the factors affecting the availability of potassium in soils. <u>https://library-archives.canada.ca/eng/services/services-libraries/theses/Pages/item.aspx?idNumber=902871896</u> (accessed 1 October 2024).
- Rochon, J., C. Doyle, J. Greef, A. Hopkins, G. Molle, M. Sitzia, D. Scholefield, and C. Smith. 2004. Grazing legumes in Europe: a review of their status, management, benefits, research needs and future prospects. Grass Forage Sci. 59(3):197-214. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2494.2004.00423.x.
- Rogers, E. M., and J. M. Locke. 1964. Tall fescue. Rep. Pl. Breed. Inst 65:101. https://doi.orangehousegoa.com/globalassets/docs/ag/pubs/pasture/nf-fo-13-03.pdf (accessed 1 October 2024).
- Röös, E., M. Patel, J. Spångberg, G. Carlsson, and L. Rydhmer. 2016. Limiting livestock production to pasture and by-products in a search for sustainable diets. Food Policy. 58:1-13. doi:10.1016/j.foodpol.2015.10.008.
- Rotz, C. 2004. Management to reduce nitrogen losses in animal production. J. Anim. Sci. 82(suppl_13): doi:10.2527/2004.8213_supplE119x.
- Rotz, C. A., and R. E. Muck. 1994. Changes in forage quality during harvest and storage.
 Forage quality, evaluation, and utilization. 828-868.doi:10.2134/1994.foragequality.c20.
- Rouquette Jr, F. 2008. Pasture beef cattle management options with increased costs of fertilizer, feed grains, and fuel: stocking strategies and nutrient cycling. <u>https://oaktrust.library.tamu.edu/server/api/core/bitstreams/1bf10938-6918-4e40-</u> <u>aa98-ab28022babbe/content</u> (accessed 1 October 2024).

- Rouquette Jr, F. 2016. Invited review: The roles of forage management, forage quality, and forage allowance in grazing research. Prof. Anim. Sci. 32(1):10-18. doi:10.15232/pas.2015-01408.
- Rouquette Jr, F. M. 2015. Grazing systems research and impact of stocking strategies on pasture–animal production efficiencies. Crop Sci. 55(6):2513-2530. doi:10.2135/cropsci2015.01.0062.
- Russell, J. R. 2013. Improving fiber by-product utilization in high concentrate diets. University of Missouri-Columbia. 1524413.
- Russelle, M. P. 1992. Nitrogen cycling in pasture and range. J. Prod. Agric. 5(1):13-23. doi:10.2134/jpa1992.0013.
- Saha, M. C. 2013. Tall Fescue. Genetics, genomics and breeding of forage crops. 97-1-4822-0810-8-58.
- Salami, S. A., G. Luciano, M. N. O'Grady, L. Biondi, C. J. Newbold, J. P. Kerry, and A. Priolo. 2019. Sustainability of feeding plant by-products: A review of the implications for ruminant meat production. Anim. Feed Sci. Tech. 251:37-55. doi:10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2019.02.006.
- St. Andrew, L. 2024. Supplemental feed usage in beef cattle operations across the southeastern United States. Thesis, Auburn University, Auburn, AL, USA. 29288943.
- Sarpong, C. 2020. Characterization of binding ability of the commercial and novel feed binders in starch and protein based particles, Norwegian University of Life Sciences, Ås. <u>https://hdl.handle.net/11250/2682851</u> (accessed 1 October 2024).

- Sauvant, D., J.-M. Perez, and G. Tran. 2023. Tables of composition and nutritional value of feed materials: pigs, poultry, cattle, sheep, goats, rabbits, horses and fish. doi.10.3920/978-90-8686-668-7.
- Schnepf, R. 2011. US livestock and poultry feed use and availability: background and emerging issues. Congressional Research Service:1-27. Schnepf, R. 2011. US livestock and poultry feed use and availability: background and emerging issues. Congressional Research Service:1-27. (accessed 1 October 2024).
- Schnepf, R.D. and Yacobucci, B.D., 2010. Renewable fuel standard (RFS): overview and issues.
 40155.
 <u>https://upload.wikimedia.org/wikipedia/commons/5/56/R40155_Renewable_Fuel</u>
 <u>Standard %28RFS%29_Overview_and_Issues_%28IA_R40155RenewableFuel</u>
 StandardRFSOverviewandIssues-crs%29.pdf (accessed 1 October 2024).
- Schroeder, J. W. 1997. Corn gluten feed: composition, storage, handling, feeding and value.<u>https://library.ndsu.edu/ir/bitstream/handle/10365/5361/as1127.pdf?sequenc</u>
 <u>e=1</u> (accessed 1 October 2024).
- Shabtay, A.,H. Eitam, Y. Tadmor, A. Orlov, A. Meir, P. Weinberg, Z. G. Weinberg, Y. Chen, A. Brosh, and I. Izhaki. 2008. Nutritive and antioxidative potential of fresh and stored pomegranate industrial byproduct as a novel beef cattle feed. J. Agric. Food
 Food
 Chem.
 56(21):10063-10070.
 https://pubs.acs.org/doi/epdf/10.1021/jf8016095?ref=article_openPDF (accessed 1 October 2024).

- Shastak, Y., and W. Pelletier. 2024. A cross-species perspective: β-carotene supplementation effects in poultry, swine, and cattle–a review. J. Appl. Anim. Res. 52(1): doi:10.1080/09712119.2024.2321957.
- Shukla, A. K., S. K. Behera, A. Pakhre, and S. Chaudhari. 2018. Micronutrients in soils, plants, animals and humans. Indian J. of Fert. 14(3):30-54. <u>https://doi.researchgate.net/profile/Arvind-Shukla-</u> <u>8/publication/324497356_Micronutrients_in_soils_plants_animals_and_humans/links/5c8c9b3092851c1df9446e79/Micronutrients-in-soils-plants-animals-andhumans.pdf (accessed 1 October 2024).</u>
- Skorupka, M., Nosaleweicz, A., 2021. Ammonia Volatilization from Fertilizer Urea—A New Challenge for Agriculture and Industry in View of Growing Global Demand for Food and Energy Crops. Agric.. 11(9): doi: 10.3390/agriculture11090822.
- Simpson, R. J., A. E. Richardson, S. N. Nichols, and J. R. Crush. 2014. Pasture plants and soil fertility management to improve the efficiency of phosphorus fertiliser use in temperate grassland systems. Crop Pasture Sci. 65(6): doi:10.1071/CP13395.
- Simms, D. D. 2009. Feeding the beef cowherd for maximum profit. SMS Publishing, Inc., Amarillo, TX, USA.
- Singh, A., and S. Verma. 2016. Hydro-physical properties and solute movement in black alkali soils. Inno. Saline Agric.:119-144.doi:10.1007/978-81-322-2770-0_6.
- Sleper, D., and C. West. 1996. Tall fescue. Cool-season forage grasses 34:471-502. doi:10.2134/agronmonogr34.c15.

- Smith, W. B. 2017. Impact of dried distillers' grains with solubles supplementation of cattle while grazing bermudagrass on the plant-animal interface. Dissertation, Texas A&M University, College Station, TX, USA.
- Smith, W. B., J. P. Banta, J. L. Foster, L. A. Redmon, T. J. Machado, L. O. Tedeschi, and F. M. Rouquette Jr. 2020a. Evaluation of growth performance and carcass characteristics of beef stocker cattle grazing Tifton 85 bermudagrass supplemented with dried distillers grains with solubles then finished in the feedlot. Appl. Anim. Sci. 36:308-319. doi: 10.15232/aas.2019-01907.
- Smith, W. B., J. P. Banta, J. L. Foster, L. A. Redmon, T. J. Machado, L. O. Tedeschi, and F. M. Rouquette Jr. 2021. Effects of supplementation of dried distillers grains with solubles to beef steers grazing Coastal bermudagrass on performance on pasture and in feedlot, and carcass characteristics. Appl. Anim. Sci. 37:155-165. doi: 10.15232/aas.2020-02120.
- Smith, W. B., M. D. Miller, W. L. Crossland, T. R. Callaway, L. O. Tedeschi, and F. M. Rouquette Jr. 2020b. In vitro gas production including methane from bermudagrasses supplemented with dried distillers grains with solubles. Appl. Anim. Sci. 36:172-182. doi: 10.15232/aas.2019-01916.
- Smith, W., K. Coffey, R. Rhein, E. Kegley, D. Philipp, J. Powell, J. Caldwell, and A. Young. 2017. Feeding distillers' grains, soybean hulls, or a mixture of both to cows as a forage replacement: Effects on intake, digestibility, and ruminal fermentation characteristics. J. Anim. Sci. 95(8):3666-3675.

- Sollenberger, L. E., and E. S. Vanzant. 2011. Interrelationships among forage nutritive value and quantity and individual animal performance. Crop Sci. 51(2):420-432.doi:10.2135/cropsci2010.07.0408.
- Sun, X., Z. Dou, G. C. Shurson, and B. Hu. 2024. Bioprocessing to upcycle agro-industrial and food wastes into high-nutritional value animal feed for sustainable food and agriculture systems. Resources, Conservation and Recycling 201: doi:10.1016/j.resconrec.2023.107325.
- Sweiger, S.H. and Nichols, M.D., 2010. Control methods for bovine respiratory disease in stocker cattle. Vet. Clin. N. Am. Food Anim. Pract. 26:261-271. https://123library.org/book/139678/bovine-respiratory-disease-an-issue-ofveterinary-clinics-food-animal-practice-e-book#page=84(accessed 1 October 2024).
- Taylor, N., and R. Smith. 1980. Red clover breeding and genetics. Adv. Agron. 31:125-154. doi:10.1016/S0065-2113(08)60138-8.
- Teague, R., and U. Kreuter. 2020. Managing grazing to restore soil health, ecosystem function, and ecosystem services. Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems 4:534187. doi:10.3389/fsufs.2020.534187.
- Teague, W. R. 2018. Forages and pastures symposium: Cover crops in livestock production: Whole-system approach: Managing grazing to restore soil health and farm livelihoods. J. Anim. Sci. 96(4):1519-1530. doi:10.1093/jas/skx060.
- Tekçe, E., and M. Gül. 2014. The importance of NDF and ADF in ruminant nutrition. ISSN. 2147-9615.

- Tian, J., F. Ge, D. Zhang, S. Deng, and X. Liu. 2021. Roles of Phosphate Solubilizing Microorganisms from managing soil phosphorus deficiency to mediating biogeochemical P Cycle. Bio. doi:10.3390/biology10020158.
- Thiesse, K. 2021. 2022 farm input costs rapidly rising. https://doi.farmprogress.com/fertilizer/2022-farm-input-costs-rapidly-rising (accessed 1 October 2024)
- Tichenor, Nicole E. Sustainability of Regional Beef Production Systems. Order No. 10155778. Tufts University. Gerald J. and Dorothy R. Friedman School of Nutrition Sci. and Policy, 2016. United States -- Massachusetts: ProQuest (accessed 1 October 2024)
- Tona, G. O. 2018. Current and future improvements in livestock nutrition and feed resources. Anim. husbandry and nutrition 18: dx.doi.10.5772/intechopen.73088.
- Torgerson, R. E. 2016. Producer marketing through cooperatives, Cooperatives and Local Development. Routledge. 224-246. ISBN.9781315290294.
- Turner, T. R., and N. W. Hummel Jr. 1992. Nutritional requirements and fertilization. Turfgrass 32:385-439. doi:10.2134/agronmonogr32.c11.
- Ullmann, I., A. Herrmann, M. Hasler, and F. Taube. 2017. Influence of the critical phase of stem elongation on yield and forage quality of perennial ryegrass genotypes in the first reproductive growth. Field Crops Res. 205:23-33. doi:10.1016/j.fcr.2017.02.003.
- Upton, M., 2004. The role of livestock in economic development and poverty reduction. <u>https://doi.researchgate.net/profile/Martin-Upton-</u>

2/publication/23510344_The_Role_of_Livestock_in_Economic_Development_an

<u>d_Poverty_Reduction/links/0fcfd5148999f038c4000000/The-Role-of-Livestock-</u> in-Economic-Development-and-Poverty-Reduction.pdf (accessed 1 October 2024)

- Vanderhoff, A., Lanes, A., Go, K., Dobson, L., Ginsburg, E., Patel, J. and Srouji, S.S., 2024. Multiple embryo manipulations in PGT-A cycles may result in inferior clinical outcomes. Repro. Bio. Med. Online. 48(2). doi:10.1016/j.rbmo.2023.103619.
- Van der Poel, A., M. Abdollahi, H. Cheng, R. Colovic, L. Den Hartog, D. Miladinovic, G. Page, K. Sijssens, J. Smillie, and M. Thomas. 2020. Future directions of animal feed technology research to meet the challenges of a changing world. Anim. Feed Sci. and Tech. 270:114692. doi:10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2020.114692.
- Van Santen, E. 1992. Animal preference of tall fescue during reproductive growth in the spring. Agron. J. 84(6):979-982. doi:10.2134/agronj1992.00021962008400060014x.
- Vendramini, J., M. Silveira, J. Dubeux Jr, and L. Sollenberger. 2007. Environmental impacts and nutrient recycling on pastures grazed by cattle. 36:139-149. doi:10.1590/S1516-35982007001000015.
- Veysset, P., Lherm, M., Boussemart, J.P. and Natier, P., 2019. Generation and distribution of productivity gains in beef cattle farming: Who are the winners and losers between 1980 and 2015?. Anim.13(5).1063-1073. doi:10.1017/S1751731118002574.
- Vogel, K. P., J. F. Pedersen, S. D. Masterson, and J. J. Toy. 1999. Evaluation of a filter bag system for NDF, ADF, and IVDMD forage analysis. Crop Sci. 39:276-279. doi: 10.2135/cropsci1999.0011183X003900010042x.

- Volenec, J., and C. Nelson. 1983. Responses of tall fescue leaf meristems to N fertilization and harvest frequency 1. Crop Sci. 23(4):720-724. doi:10.2135/cropsci1983.0011183X002300040028x.
- Wall, D. P., L. O'Sullivan, R. Creamer, and M. J. McLaughlin. 2018. Soil fertility and nutrient cycling. The Soils of Ireland. 223-234. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-71189-8_15.
- Wang, M., Q. Zheng, Q. Shen, and S. Guo. 2013. The critical role of potassium in plant stress response. Intern. J. Molec. Sci. 14(4):7370-7390. doi:10.3390/ijms14047370.
- Waghorn, G.C. and Clark, D.A., 2004. Feeding value of pastures for ruminants. New Zealand Veterinary J.52(6).320-331. doi:10.1080/00480169.2004.36448.
- Webb, A. S. 2003. Supplementation of soybean hulls and (or) corn to cattle consuming low-or high-quality forages. Mississippi State University. 1416726.
- Wegner, L. and Zwart, G., 2011. Who will feed the world? The production challenge. http://hdl.handle.net/10546/128670 (accessed 1 October 2024)
- Weinert-Nelson, J.R., Ely, D.G., Flythe, M.D., Hamilton, T.A., Ferrell, J.L. and Davis, B.E., 2023. Ex vivo fermentation of hay and corn by rumen bacteria from cattle and sheep. Fermentation. 9(11). 929. doi:10.3390/fermentation9110929.
- Weber, T. L., X. Hao, C. D. Gross, K. A. Beauchemin, and S. X. Chang. 2022. The effect of manure from cattle fed barley- vs. corn-based diets on greenhouse gas emissions depends on soil type. Soil Syst. 6:47. doi:10.3390/soilsystems6020047.
- Westendorf, M. L., and J. E. Wohlt. 2002. Brewing by-products: their use as animal feeds. Vet. Clin.: Food Anim. Practice 18(2):233-252. doi:10.1016/S0749-0720(02)00016-6.

- White, H. C., N. G. Davis, M. L. Van Emon, S. A. Wyffels, and T. DelCurto. 2019. Impacts of increasing levels of salt on intake, digestion, and rumen fermentation with beef cattle consuming low-quality forages. Transl. Anim. Sci. 3(Supp.1):1818-1821. doi:10.109/tas/txz111.
- Williamson, J. A., G. E. Aiken, E. S. Flynn, and M. Barrett. 2016. Animal and pasture responses to grazing management of chemically suppressed tall fescue in mixed pastures. Crop Sci. 56(5):2861-2869. doi:10.2135/cropsci2016.04.0206.
- Wilson, H. T. 2019. An analysis of the physiological mechanisms for the uptake, accumulation and excretion of gold by Tamarix usneoides E. Mey ex. Bunge.
- Wu, T., S. Ullah, L. Zhong, Y. Xu, G. Wei, and M. Yang. 2023. Impact of Simulated Acid Rain on Soil Base Cations Dissolution between Eucalyptus Pure Plantations and Eucalyptus–Castanopsis fissa Mixed Plantations. For. 14(11):2159. doi:10.3390/f14112159.
- Yan, C., J. Yan, Z. Zhang, D. Yu, S. Wang, X. Jiang, C. A, and Z. Leng. 2024. Screw extrusion process used in the polymer modified asphalt field: Rev. J. Cleaner Prod. doi:10.1016/j.jclepro.2024.141592.
- Yan, R., X. Xin, Y. Yan, X. Wang, B. Zhang, G. Yang, S. Liu, Y. Deng, and L. Li. 2015. Impacts of differing grazing rates on canopy structure and species composition in Hulunber meadow steppe. Rangel. Ecol. Manag. 68(1):54-64 doi:10.1016/j.rama.2014.12.001.
- Yang, K., Y. Qing, Q. Yu, X. Tang, G. Chen, R. Fang, and H. Liu. 2021. By-product feeds:
 Current understanding and future perspectives. Agri. 11(3) doi: /10.3390/agriculture11030207.

- Zhang, R., S. Ma, L. Li, M. Zhang, S. Tian, D. Wang, K. Liu, H. Liu, Y. Zhu, and X. Wang. 2021. Comprehensive utilization of corn starch processing by-products: A review. Grain Oil Sci. Tech. 4(3).89-107. doi.org:10.1016/j.gaost.2021.08.003.
- Zörb, C., Senbayram, M. and Peiter, E., 2014. Potassium in agriculture–status and perspectives. J Plant Phys. 171(9) 656-669. doi:10.1016/j.jplph.2013.08.008.